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4 
CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I'd like to call this 

seting to order. This is the House Judiciary Committee 

id Subcommittee on Crime and Corrections meeting. We're 

;eting today on a piece of legislation that's been 

itroduced by State Representative Pete Daley. The House 

.11 1509 deals with regulating video violence. 

And with us today are many of the members of 

te Committee. I'm going to ask them to introduce 

temselves, starting with the gentleman to my immediate 

;ft. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Representative Al 

Lsland, Cumberland and Northern York Counties. 

REPRESENTATIVE FEESE: Representative Brett 

iese, Lycoming County. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Representative Tim 

snnessey from Chester County. 

MS. DALTON: Karen Dalton, Counsel to the 

>mmittee. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Having reached the hour 

: 1 o'clock at which this meeting was scheduled, we'll 

sgin as quickly as possible. We have a full agenda of 

iny people who are giving testimony. And for those who 

en't ready to give theirs and who are present, I will do 

r very best to keep us within the time frames that have 

ien allotted to you. 
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5 
And as members of the Committee have before 

iem an agenda, keep in mind that I will allow questions 

>r the members of the Committee to ask of those who are 

istifying as long as the time allows for it. If it does 

>t, we will not have any questions for that particular 

tness. And you may want to talk to them at a later time, 

possible. And we'll keep things moving along pretty 

tod. 

Our first testifier is the author of the 

igislation, Representative Pete Daley. And he has brought 

.th him Lieutenant Colonel David Grossman. And between 

ie two of them, they will be giving their testimony at 

lis time. 

Representative Daley, I welcome you to our 

immittee hearing. And after you and Lieutenant Colonel 

.ve finished your testimony, I would encourage you to join 

i here at the table with the rest of the members of the 

diciary Committee. And you may begin. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you very much, 

. Chairman. I think this microphone is on. I'm not 

re. As a member of this House Judiciary Committee, it's 

pleasure to be able to testify before you on House Bill 

09. To my left is Dave Callen. He's on our staff. 

I have also Jamie Kreamer. She's on my staff. 

d what she is doing contemporaneously with this 
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6 
esentation is she's going to be playing a video game so 

at we don't have any lull in terms of a display or 

esentation. 

The particular game she has is for children in 

ieir teens. You will see that it has graphic violence; it 

.s blood; and it does not have the mutilation. But she's 

ling to continue to play the game for a while. And if you 

.n just drift that way and you will see the type of games 

iat are being rented to children today. 

Last session House Bill 2823 was introduced in 

sptember of 1998 by myself and a number of members of the 

mse of Representatives. It came to the Judiciary 

immittee, and it sat in that committee. It had to deal 

th video violence. 

And the purpose for that legislation at that 

me was based upon my belief that too many of our young 

ildren are watching video games and playing and 

.rticipating in video games that engendered violent 

ihavior. 

At that time, when I introduced this bill, it 

s between Jonesboro and Littleton. I was called by many 

wspaper editorials as saying that this was kind of 

f-the-wall legislation. As Colonel Grossman remarked to 

at lunch, it's kind of strange that in a matter of one 

ar, I've gone from being a fanatic in terms of video 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle

koboyle
Rectangle



7 
olence to now something as a vanguard leading the second 

its kind in the country with this type of legislation. 

I think we have a copy of our prepared text. 

d if I may, a host of experts and policy leaders from 

xoss the political spectrum have diagnosed a threat to 

dldren's emotional health from excessive violent, vividly 

al video games. 

Mature adults who view these games experience 

e same repugnation that is experienced when viewing the 

ude, unredemptive sexually — sexuality of hard core 

irnography. Virtually every school violence case in the 

tional news in the last five or six years have had a 

monstrative connection to the use of excessive violent. 

deo games like Doom and Mortal Kombat. 

Cultural critics have been saying for the last 

ro decades that there is an inconsistency, in fact a 

pocrisy in the way in which we are willing to protect our 

dldren from explicit sexuality and yet have no bounds on 

.e degree of violence in media or games that we will 

rmit them to see. 

It is time we draw the line, a reasonable 

ne, in the sand over a clearly commercially driven 

ploitation of violence as an entertainment form and its 

urient pandering to children, and to call it what it is, 

scene, and without redeeming social value. 
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8 
House Bill 1509 will do just that. It will 

eate a panel of volunteers, all volunteers, from every 

.Ik of life from across the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

Lose job will be not to determine the merits of video 

mies individually or their quality of production, but 

.mply to say that in some games too much is too much in 

srms of violent content for impressionable minds to be 

iposed to, indoctrinated in. 

I firmly believe that the events, the sorrow 

rents of the last several months are a harvest of our 

Lability to determine reasonable standards for the 

Lterial to which our young people will be exposed. Part 

this has been from a sincere dedication to the 

inciples of the First Amendment. 

A good part of it has been due to a 

singenuous, insincere exploitation of these ideals by 

iose who want to make a buck by doing anything and 

rerything to kids' minds without regard to the 

msequences. This is a battle that has to be joined. 

We fought this fight a year ago over the issue 

pornography, and it's pretty well settled at this point 

at we think a minor can be exposed to or not. We need to 

i the same thing for violence. We ignore the need to do 

at at our own peril. 

I'd like to introduce to you a gentleman that 
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9 
s received tremendous national attention, is on the 

tting edge of this whole issue, Lieutenant Colonel David 

ossman. Dave comes from Jonesboro, Arkansas, came from 

uisiana last night to be with us via Baltimore. 

He has been mentioned in President Clinton's 

turday radio addresses. His literary work on this issue 

s been cited. He's been on 60 minutes, Larry King, 

teline MSNBC. Ladies and gentlemen, I'd like to present 

i you a man of tremendous knowledge on this issue that's 

dng to show you some ads, that's going to talk to you 

iout this issue with tremendous enlightenment for all of 

David. 

LIEUTENANT GROSSMAN: Thank you, sir. I hope 

can live up to that. Mr. Chairman and distinguished 

mbers of the Committee, members of the press, I'm a 

tired West Point psychology professor, an Army ranger, an 

:-paratrooper sergeant. I'm the author of the textbook on 

is topic that's used worldwide on killing, The 

ychological Cost of Learning to Kill in War and Society. 

In this last year, I've written three 

.cyclopedia entries on this topic and the entry in the 

ford Companion American Military History. Last week I 

d the privilege of speaking before the US House Judiciary 

mmittee and the week before that the Senate Commerce 

mmittee. 
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10 
And the week before that the President cited 

— President Clinton cited my research in his national 

dress. And he essentially stated that Lieutenant Colonel 

ve Grossman, an Army psychologist, has identified the 

.ct that these violent video games are providing our 

ildren with the same killing enabling mechanisms that the 

litary and the law enforcement give to those who have to 

11 in the line of duty. 

But when it's being given to the children, 

's done without the character development and without the 

feguards that are present when the military and the law 

forcement does that. And that's really my essential 

int. 

Last week I trained at the California Highway 

trol Academy. Tomorrow I train the Commanding General 

d all of the staff of Ft. Leonard Wood, one of America's 

emier military training bases. From both these law 

forcement and military perspective, these individuals 

ose job it is to teach people to kill — God forbid that 

ey should have to — but to enable them at the moment of 

uth to do the job that may need to be done. 

I need to give you a foundation of 

derstanding of what we're talking about when we talk 

out killing enabling. There is a giant leap between 

ing a healthy member of American society and being able 
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11 

i take a life. It's not necessarily something that 

mebody can step out and do without any prior mental 

eparation. 

In World War II, we taught our soldiers to 

re at bull's-eye targets. When they actually went to 

rnibat, we realized there was a tragic flaw in our 

aining. When no bull's-eyes actually appeared on the 

ttle field, they were not as competent as they ought to 

i able to do to transfer their training to reality. 

They were brave soldiers, wonderful soldiers. 

ey did their job, but we had failed them in our training. 

nee World War II, every major military and law 

forcement organization in the world has learned that if 

u want people to kill human beings, they have to practice 

ooting at human beings. 

And we transition from bull's-eyes to 

n-shaped silhouettes. And in recent years in the 

litary, we actually have little dolls, little 

ree-dimensional Ivan dolls that soldiers call them that 

>p up that we fire at. And these are killing simulators. 

>u have to simulate the act of killing. 

You have to wrap your mind around the act of 

lling. You have to rehearse it. Now, in the civilian 

mmunity, the simulators have developed so well that the 

litary now incorporates them extensively in their 
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12 
aining. 

The Army has taken the basic Super Nintendo, 

dified it just a little bit so that we have an M-16 and 

mple plastic pistol. And now we use that device around 

e world to practice shooting at human beings on the 

reen. The Army's name for the Super Nintendo is the 

CS, the Multipurpose Arcade Combat Simulator. Combat 

mulator. It is a combat simulator. You take the basic 

vice sold to kids around the world, and it has become a 

mbat simulator with minimal modification. 

The Marine Corp. uses the game Doom. The 

ducah shooter and the shooters in Littleton were 

fatuated with the game Doom. The Marine Corp. uses that 

me to train their Marines in military strategies and to. 

hearse the act of killing in combat. 

Now, again, when the military and the law 

forcement does it, they do it with safeguards. I would 

courage any of you to go to the local law enforcement 

ganization and tell them you'd like to take a look at the 

.TS trainer. FATS is an acronym for Firearms Training 

mulator. 

Now, the FATS trainer, you'll see a law 

forcement officer stand in front of a large screen TV 

th an imitation gun in his hand. As suspects on the 

reen take particular actions, the officer decides when to 
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13 
oot. 

When he pulls the trigger, the slide slams 

ck in his hand. And if he aims properly, it will hit the 

rget; and the target will fall and bleed and die. Now, 

en the military and the law enforcement does this, 

ere's great safeguards. The law enforcement officer does 

at if he hits the wrong target, shoots at the wrong time, 

oots in the wrong direction. 

Ultimately, if he cannot control that 

havior, he's fired. He is not certified or authorized to 

e a weapon in public. But what I want you to do is I 

,nt you to take a look at that FATS trainer. And then I 

uld ask you to go to the local video arcade at the local 

11, and I would ask you to sit down at that video arcade 

d watch the kids play these games because they have a 

me identical to the FATS trainer. 

One of the classic examples is one called Time 

isis. And in Time Crisis, what happens is the children 

now, we're not talking about adults here. We're 

Iking children. All you've got to do is be big enough to 

Id the gun in your hand and look over the console to play 

e game. Children stand there and hold a gun in their 

nd. 

But in Time Crisis, for example — it's just 

e of many. — you're shooting at swat team members as 
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14 
ves of swat team members come at you. You pull the 

igger. The slide slams back in your hand. You aim 

curately, it hits the target, the target falls and bleeds 

id twitches. 

And what has happened is the very worst of 

lese — and we're talking about the home games here. And 

iat's appropriate. We should discuss these. But the 

irst of them are down at the arcades. People don't 

:alize how expensive ammunition is. 

The ammunition for a 9mm pistol costs about 25 

tnts a round. The average child puts 50 cents in one of 

iese games and gets 1,000 bullets. That's $250 worth of 

llets, a $500 pistol and a million dollar range all for 

> cents. 

Countless thousands of human targets pop up in 

ont of them, and the child practices and practices and 

actices killing human beings. This act of practicing 

lling is so powerful and so effective, it is like a child 

i a fire drill, like a pilot in a flight simulator. It is 

[entical to the dynamics of a flight simulator. 

The Army has killing simulators. We have 

ight simulators. We can put somebody in this flight 

mulator. And without ever touching an aircraft, they can 

a m how to fly. We have killing simulators that will 

rmit you to practice and rehearse the act of killing, 
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15 
ke it reflexive like a pilot in a flight simulator, like 

child in a fire drill. 

But when these killing simulators are put in 

e hands of children, they are now murder simulators. 

ey're actually mass murder simulators. You see, in all 

the killings that we're seeing, those mass killings, 

st often the model is this: The child kills his 

rlfriend or a teacher that they're mad at. But then they 

ep on going and kill every other living creature in front 

them until they run out of bullets or run out of 

rgets. 

Now, this is a new phenomenon. When we asked 

e child afterwards why did you do it, why did you kill 

1 the other people, they don't know. But we know. I, 

ose job it is to train people to kill and to train the 

ople who train the people to kill, know that if you 

ovide in your simulation a set of conditioned responses, 

pecially to young adolescents, in the actual stress of a 

tuation, that is precisely what they will do. 

And what they have been programmed to do, what 

ey have rehearsed countless thousands of times is to kill 

ery living creature in front of them until they run out 

bullets or run out of targets. 

Gentlemen, we have a new national video game 

t there. And we have children who are intent on racking 
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16 
the new high score in the new national video game. The 

e that gets the maximum body count, instead of getting 

s little three letter initials up on top of the video 

cade, he gets his picture on Time Magazine and in every 

levision in America. And believe me, that is a 

gnificant motivator for young adolescents to have that 

portunity to get on national TV. 

For close to a year now, as I've been training 

w enforcement and schools and medical personnel, I taught 

and Rounds at Dartmouth Medical Center earlier this year, 

ve been predicting that we'll see bombs in the next major 

hool shootings. 

How could I know that we'11 see bombs in these 

hool shootings? Well, because they're out to rack up the 

gh score. And in all the video games, when you get up to 

e high levels, if you want to rack up a high score, 

u've got to get access to the bombs, the grenade 

unchers, the rocket launchers, the dynamite, the barrels 

T & T. 

You've got to have instruments to kill people 

large numbers if you're going to get the high score. 

1 you had to do was see what the children are being 

ripted to do, what they're doing in their rehearsals, and 

* s an easy step to go ahead and predict that that's 

at's going to happen next. 
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17 
Now, people say it's the parents' job. It's 

e parents' job to protect the kids. And they're right. 

d so then why do we need this legislation if it"s all the 

rents' job. But understand this, when it comes to guns, 

bacco, alcohol, drugs, pornography, explosives, on all of 

ese substances we say it's the parents' job to help the 

d. But you know what, we help the parent. 

We have legislation that says if anybody sells 

ur child guns, tobacco, alcohol, drugs, pornography, 

plosives, we will help you protect your child. And we 

11 treat the individuals that gives that substance to 

ur child, we will treat them as a criminal. 

Why in this one area, this tragic, desperate 

ea of violence enabling, why in this area is the parent 

ft entirely on their own when their failure in this area 

n represent such a tragic cost to society? And we need 

realize that we didn't get here overnight. 

My research is the first place that anybody 

s published the following set of data. Now, we don't 

derstand how bad violent crime has gotten in America. 

e first thing we need to realize is when we track violent 

ime, we have to ignore the murder rate. 

Why? Why would you ignore the murder rate? 

cause medical technology saves ever more lives every 

ar. You see, a wound that nine out of ten times would 
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18 
ve killed you in World War II, in Vietnam you would have 

rvived that same wound nine out of ten times. 

I've established the Scholarly Foundation and 

veral encyclopedia and journal articles to demonstrate 

e fact that if we had 1930s level of medical technology 

America today, the murder rate would easily be ten times 

at it is. 

You've got to look at the rate at which 

tizens are trying to kill one another off, the aggravated 

sault rate. The aggravated assault rate in America since 

57 has gone up almost seven fold. The per capita, the 

tio of our citizens that are trying to kill one another 

f since '57 has gone up seven fold. 

In Canada, since 1964, the per capita assault 

te has gone up five fold. In the 15 years that I could 

t interpole data for, from 1977 to 1993, just 15 years, 

have seen a five fold increase in the per capita assault 

te in Norway and Greece, a four fold increase in 

stralia and New Zealand. 

I just got back from a couple of weeks in 

stralia training their federal police and their military. 

d they know what's happening, and they're scared to 

ath. The per capita assault rate in those 15 years 

ipled in Sweden and doubled in seven other European 

tions. 
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19 
Now, the question you got to ask yourself, 

at is the new factor, what is the new variable, what is 

e new ingredient in that toxic stew of causal variables 

at causes violent crime? Well, we know that one of the 

jor new factors is media violence. We feed our children 

ath and horror and destruction as entertainment, and we 

ap what we have sewn. 

I was on Meet the Press with the Surgeon 

neral three Sundays ago. They asked the Surgeon General, 

n you do a Surgeon General's report on the link between 

dia violence and violent behavior in children? He said, 

re, I can do a Surgeon General's report on the link 

tween media violence and violent behavior in children; 

t why don't we begin by reading the 1972 Surgeon 

neral*s report that has already definitively identified 

at link. 

The bottom line is, we don't need more 

search. We need action. The Surgeon General has been 

lling for it since 1972, the same Surgeon General that 

de the warning about the link between tobacco and cancer, 

almost the same year made a warning about the link 

tween media violence and violent behavior in children. 

y aren't we listening? 

i 

In 1982, the National Institute of Mental 

alth assessed over 2,500 scholarly studies worldwide and 
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20 
me to the conclusion that there is, quote, a clear 

nsensus about a, quote, strong link between media 

olence and violent behavior in children. 

In 1982, Eron and Huesmann released their 

ngitudinal study of 875 kids across 21 years 

monstrating the fact that the high level viewers of 

levision violence were four to five times more likely to 

i violent criminals than the low level viewers of 

levision. 

Most importantly, they demonstrated the fact 

at the high level viewers of television violence were 

ders of magnitude more likely to be violent to their own 

ildren and abusive and aggressive to their own children 

a powerful correlation at the statistical significance 

vel of .0001. 

In 1992, the American Psychological 

sociation said, quote, the scientific debate is over. 

at we need to do now is take action. In 1992, the 

urnal of the American Medical Association, the world's 

>st distinguished medical journal, published a study by 

andon — by Brandon Centerwall that demonstrated the fact 

at throughout America and Canada, wherever television 

peared, 15 years later the murder rate doubled. Direct 

use and effect relationship 15 years later doubled. 

They've got these wonderful little models of 
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21 
ties up in Canada. Two demographically, ethically 

entical cities, neither one of which has ever had 

levision before. Over and over again they replicate this 

the Indian community, in the white community, two cities 

de by side. 

Now, television appears in one city. There's 

immediate explosion of violence in the experimental 

oup in the nation or the city or the region with 

levision, and 15 years later the murder rate has doubled. 

y does it take 15 years? Because the impact is on the 

ttle ones. And 15 years later you reap what you have 

wn. 

Now, in 1998, last year, the United Nations 

s chimed into this with a major UNESCO study identifying 

e link between the culture of violence and the saturation 

media violence worldwide. On top of the television 

olence which we've already identified, we now have the 

deo games which are the most horrendous of all because 

stead of being the passive receiver of violence, the 

ild actually inflicts violence on another human being. 

There are by one count 16 million kids in 

erica with access to guns. Now, because a tiny fraction 

a percent of those children will use that access to guns 

kill, everybody from the NRA to civil liberties 

ganizations agrees on child access laws. 
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We all agree that there is no redeeming social 

lue in children having access to guns, and we all agree 

at it is necessary for us to protect children from guns. 

erybody from the NRA to any other group you want to look 

supports child access laws in one form or another. 

Well, if only a tiny remote fraction of a 

rcent of all the children with access to guns, because of 

e fact that they might abuse that access, we all agree on 

ild access laws on that topic. Then why can't we agree 

the fact that these murder simulators, these firearms 

aining devices are also a device which in places like 

ducah and Pearl and Jonesboro and Edenboro and most 

pecially in Littleton were the precursors, the trainers 

vicious mass murderers? 

Only a tiny percentage may actually turn into 

Hers. But think about this: Not everybody who smokes 

ts cancer. Not everybody who smokes gets cancer, but 

ey're all made sick. Not everybody who plays these 

olent video games is going to become a violent criminal, 

t they are all affected by the influence of violent 

dia. 

Dr. Brandon Centerwall has put together a 

udy that demonstrates what he calls the Mean World 

ndrome. Those children who are infatuated with media 

olence may not become violent criminals; although, some 
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11. But the others will develop the sense that the world 

a dark, brutal, horrific place. 

They will be more willing to accept violence 

the response in society, less willing to stop for 

ople, more fearful. They will add to the mean world. 

ey will believe that the world is a mean brutal place. 

d because of that belief, the world will become a mean 

utal place. 

The NRA has made a clear-cut statement. One 

ek I'm on with the Surgeon General and the next week I'm 

Wayne LaPierre's national radio show, the head of the 

A. He has definitively stated that it is their belief 

at these devices are at best firearms trainers and at 

rst murder simulators. 

The NRA, who believes themselves to be one of 

e world's premier firearm safety trainers, are absolutely 

traged by the fact that these firearms training devices 

e given indiscriminately to our children. Anybody who 

ubts the NRA's position on this, I would encourage you to 

11 Wayne LaPierre's office and ask him. 

He will be very clear-cut about the fact that 

ey believe that this is not a First Amendment issue. 

is is a Second Amendment issue. These are at best 
! 

rearms training devices. 'And the NRA believes that 

ybody that gives a child unrestricted access to a gun is 
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criminal and anybody who gives a child unrestricted 

icess to one of these murder simulators is an equivalent 

iminal. 

Now, I want to give you one example of how 

lese devices train people to kill. They are training 

svices. In Paducah, Kentucky, Michael Carneal, a 

-year-old boy, to the best of our knowledge, has never 

red a pistol before in his life. 

He steals a pistol from a neighbor's locked 

ibinet in a locked garage. He brings it to school, and he 

lens fire. He's in a large foyer of a school, a room 

tout the size of this room right here. He stands back in 

ie corner of the room and holds the pistol in his hand. 

There's a prayer circle in the middle of the 

iom. Not a compact mass of kids, a prayer circle. And as 

ie prayer circle starts to break up, Michael Carneal holds 

ie gun in his hands and begins to open fire. Now, the 

rerage law enforcement officer in the average engagement 

.ts with less than one bullet in five. 

The stress of firing at real human beings, 

ie, the dynamics of bullets possibly coming back at you, 

ist hitting a moving target is hard. It is hard. In the 

ladou Diallo shootings where four elite New York law 

iforcement officers fired 41 shots at an unarmed African 

imigrant at point-blank range, they fired 41 shots and 
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iey hit 19 times. That's the norm. 

Michael Carneal standing in the corner of that 

>om fires eight shots. Now, remember, he's never fired a 

stol before in his life. He fires eight shots at eight 

.fferent milling, scrambling, screaming children. How 

Lny hits does he get? Eight shots, eight hits on eight 

fferent children. Five of them are head shots. The 

her three are upper torso. 

Where does he get that from? I trained a 

.ttalion of Green Beret this last summer, I trained the 

:xas Rangers this fall, the California Highway Patrol last 

iek. And when I tell them about this, they are stunned. 

where in the annals of law enforcement or military or 

iminal history can we find an equivalent achievement. 

And it's not some deranged Army ranger like 

i. It's a 14-year-old who's never held a pistol before in 

s life. Where does he get that from? The video games. 

i has played and played and played these training devices 

id has developed the skill and the will to kill. That's 

iat these instruments provide to the child. 

Now, I say again, we have vast quantities of 

isearch. We have 50 years of research on simulators, and 

at's what these are. The military is the experts at 

ing these devices, and we know what happens when you put 

em in the hands of an adolescent. 
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We have careful controls and discipline and 

aracter development that goes with that. We understand 

out simulators. The Surgeon General understands about 

dia violence. And the Surgeon General and the AMA are 

e real media critics when it comes to your children, not 

skel and Ebert. 

And we need to understand that members of the 

dustry are about as reliable in testifying on this topic 

i members of the tobacco industry are in testifying about 

te toxic effects of their product. So what we need to 

cognize is there is no need for further research. There 

need for action. 

Everybody from the Surgeon General to the 

ited Nations has called for action. And that action 

eds to take the form of education, legislation, 

tigation. The education, the parents need to be educated 

d informed. 

By passing laws like this, we let the parents 

ow that our legislature, our individuals, our government 

lieves that harm can be done by these products. It's not 

e seat belt laws that make parents buckle their kids up. 

's because they know it's the right thing to do. But the 

ws help reinforce an interactive web of societal factors 

at make the parents do the right thing. 

The video game industry states that only 5 
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rcent of their games are violent and only 10 percent of 

eir — of their market are youth. So what we're really 

Iking about is 10 percent of 5 percent of their market. 

i you think they could let go of that when the AMA, the 

A, United States Army, United States Marine Corp., and 

e law enforcement organizations all plead with them to do 

i? I think maybe they can let go of that. 

Education, legislation, litigation are the 

.ctors that we're talking about here. And the final 

oduct is the litigation. And I want you to understand 

:e, if you will, the legal ramifications of these 

oducts. Just a few years ago, the supreme court allowed 

i stand a circuit court decision that said the book Hit 

n was not protected by the First Amendment. 

Now, this is a book that exhorts the reader to 

come your own hit man, to kill people for pay. It 

:aches the reader criminal behavior and exhorts the reader 

i engage in criminal behavior. When somebody actually 

ad that book and went forward and committed a violent 

ime using that book as their textbook, as their cookbook, 

d they were sued in civil court and were held 

countable, the publisher and the author. 

The supreme court declared that that book, 

cause of its callous disregard for human life and its 

atant advocacy of violent and criminal behavior, was not 
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otected by the First Amendment. Now, if a book that is 

ven to adults is not protected by the First Amendment, do 

u think a plastic device in the hands of children is even 

motely protected, speech on the part of children? I 

uld submit to you that it is not. 

In New York, I was on with the prosecutor on 

levision, a wonderful lady from New York. She said that 

her district, a father taught his 8-year-old son how to 

ad and fire a pistol. Now, that's free speech. That's 

s First Amendment speech, speaking to his son, 

mmunicating a set of skills. 

But when that child took those skills and went 

t and murdered somebody, the father was prosecuted for 

nslaughter because the skills that he taught that child 

e something that society says a child does not need to 

ow and there is no cause for anybody to provide these 

ills to a child. 

Now, if that's the case, then I want to show 

u a couple of ads here. The first ad is for a joystick. 

ople say, well, the game Doom, you're playing that with a 

yboard. No, you're not playing it with a keyboard or a 

use. 

When the kids really play it, they play it 

th the joystick. And the joystick is like a — is like a 

stol grip that you hold in your hand. And you pull the 
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igger, and you learn trigger control. Now, one of the 

ands of joystick, the joystick actually bucks in your 

nd when you pull the trigger. 

It's like a pistol. It actually recoils in 

>ur hand, and you see the pistol on the screen recoil. 

en you turn the gun, the gun on the screen turns. The 

s for this joystick in a youth-oriented magazine says, 

sychiatrists say it's important to feel something when 

u kill." 

"Psychiatrists say it's important to feel 

mething when you kill." That's callous disregard for 

man life for the act of killing. And teaching the skills 

killing on the behalf of this industry indicates the 

gree to which they are liable. 

Now, the latest version of Quake — I'm told 

en I was on ABC that the latest version of Quake, Quake 

I you can go into your high school yearbook, you can scan 

the pictures of your fellow students and teachers and 

en morph those pictures onto the characters that you 

oot in the game so that the individuals you're going to 

oot in this game and you're going to rehearse killing are 

e ones you have a grudge against at school. 

Well, one of a similar game has an ad, again 

a youth-oriented magazine, that says, "Kill your friends 

ilt-free." Now, another ad — a lot of people say, well, 
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ese home systems, these are just push a mouse, you know, 

sh a button on the keyboard. 

No, there are many home systems in which you 

i actually hold a gun in your hand and shoot at 

aracters. And one of those home systems has an ad in a 

uth-oriented magazine that says, "More fun than shooting 

air neighbor' s cat. " 

This is the moral level that this — this 

dustry functions at. And I would submit to you that the 

presentatives of this industry, if they're going to try 

' stand up and defend these products and defend their 

ght to have 10 percent to 5 percent of their market sold 

' kids, need to be considered with great caution. 

Folks, I come from a place called Jonesboro, 

kansas. After four years as the Chair of the Department 

Military Science at Arkansas State University, I retired 

ere in Jonesboro. I retired in February of last year. 

March last year, what was then called the largest school 

rd massacre in American history happened in my home town. 

I was the lead trainer in mental health 

ofessionals on the night of the shootings and did the 

-briefing to the teachers the next morning. Just a month 

so later, I was called in as a consultant in the Paducah 

ooting. 

And then I ended up going to a town called 
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ringfield, Oregon where a young man carried a gun into 

e cafeteria and gunned down 24 people. And I trained the 

w enforcement and the civic personnel there. I ended up 

Louisiana yesterday in a tri-state law enforcement 

nference and got a chance to interview the prosecuting 

torney in the Pearl, Mississippi shootings. 

And in just a couple of weeks, I'll be going 

Littleton to do some law enforcement and civic training 

ere. And I tell you when you're in the midst of one of 

ose situations, those horrific situations in which a 

ung adolescent walks up and kills every living creature 

front of them until they run out of bullets or run out 

targets and when you are a human being who for my entire 

ult life I have trained individuals to kill — that's my 

b. — when you see those same devices being 

discriminately provided to our children as it does to law 

forcement officers around America, it simply enrages me. 

That's my home town where these boys gunned 

wn all of these people. And this is a factor in the 

uation. And nobody but the industry is even trying to 

ny it. There will be more Jonesboros, and there will be 

re Littletons until we stop this because you see, the 

Hers are already trained. Thank you very much. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Lieutenant 

lonel Grossman. And I'm going to give the opportunity to 
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r Committee members to ask questions. I'll start with 

preservative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I'll pass. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Feese? 

REPRESENTATIVE FEESE: No. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Masland? 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: No. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I see no other 

mmittee members here so we want to thank you for your 

stimony, and copies of it will be presented to the 

mbers who are not here present today. 

And Representative Daley, if you would like to 

in us here at the desk with the rest of the members, we'd 

predate that. Thank you. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. And if I could just quote a very good friend of 

ne, Bracken Burns from Washington County, Washington 

unty Commissioner, that was at a similar press conference 

out a week ago. 

And the issue was, he said, Is it between the 

rst Amendment or the Fifth Commandment? And the Fifth 

mmandment is, "Thy shall not kill." I'd rather air on 

e side of the Fifth Commandment. Thank you very much. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, 

presentative Daley. Our next testifier is Gail Markels, 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



33 
quire. She's General Counsel and Senior Vice President 

r Interactive Digital Software Association. Ms. Markels. 

MS. MARKELS: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: She has printed 

stimony for members of the Committee if you have it. It 

ould be in that packet. If not, please let me know; and 

11 make sure that you get that. Attorney Markels, 

enever you're settled in and ready to present your 

stimony, you may begin. 

MS. MARKELS: Mr. Chairman, members of the 

mmittee, good afternoon. My name is Gail Markels. And I 

i Senior Vice President and General Counsel to the 

teractive Digital Software Association or the IDSA, which 

a trade association representing US video and computer 

me software companies. I am also a former assistant 

strict attorney and a mother of two children. 

IDSA's 35 members account for 90 percent of 

e educational and entertainment software sold in the 

ited States marketplace. In my testimony, I would like 

offer some background on our industry and our past and 

ntinuing commitment to giving parents the information 

ey need to monitor the games their children play. 

I'd like to start by looking at who plays 

deo and PC computer games. In fact, 70 percent of the 

st frequent users of PC games are over 18, and 38 percent 
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these are over 36. The picture is similar for video 

me consoles. 57 percent of the most frequent users are 

er 18, and 20 percent are over 36. 

In other words, the majority of those who most 

equently use video and computer games are adults. 

ere's a misperception today that violent video games are 

e most popular games in the market. In fact, in 1998, 

ly two of the top 20 bestselling video games were rated 

ture and only three of the top 20 selling PC games 

rried that rating. 

Instead, the charts are dominated by titles 

ch as the adventure game Myst, sports games like Madden 

otball, racing games like NASCAR "99, board games like 

nopoly, flying games like Flight Sim., fishing and 

nting games like Trophy Bass Fishing, and character 

venture games like Zelda. 

Over the past two years, one of the most 

pular titles is a series of Barbie games. Of the top 20 

stselling software games in 1998, 15 were rated in the 

eryone category, three in the Teen category, and two in 

e Mature category. A complete list is attached to my 

stimony. 

The variety of popular titles reflects the 

velopment of a mass market for games. Just as some books 

d films are appropriate for different groups, there are 
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deo games for people of all ages and tastes. 

To help parents determine which games are 

itable for their children, five years ago the IDSA 

eated a rating body called the Entertainment Software 

ting Board, or the ESRB, that rates video and computer 

mes. 

We hired Dr. Arthur Pober, an educational 

ychologist and principal from the Hunter Elementary 

hool in New York City, to design and implement a system 

provide credible, reliable and easily understood 

formation about games to consumers. 

Dr. Pober built the system after significant 

put and research and consultation with consumers, 

ychologists and child advocates. And Dr. Pober meets 

riodically with those advocates and child psychologists 

get their inputs and suggestions about the rating 

stem. 

ESRB ratings are based on the prior review of 

tual game content by panels of demographically diverse 

dividuals. Three persons review each game and generate a 

nsensus rating in two areas: First, age appropriateness 

d, if necessary, content. There are five ratings: Early 

ildhood, Everyone, Teen, Mature and Adults Only, as 

dicated in this poster in the brochures. 

To date, the ESRB has rated over 5,000 
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oducts. Seventy-one have been rated in the Everyone 

tegory, 19 in the Teen category and 7 in the Mature 

tegory. In addition, many games carry one or more of 20 

ntent descriptors which are simple but clear phrases that 

ve information on the content which influenced the rating 

ch as mild animated violence, realistic violence, 

nguage, mature themes and so on. 

All of the first person action games 

ntaining the intense type of violence associated with 

mes like Doom carry an M rating as well as several 

ntent descriptors. A complete description of the rating 

of the ESRB's rating system is attached as part of the 

RB's Guide to Interactive Entertainment brochure. 

Ratings, of course, do not work if parents 

ther don't know about them or don't use them. To that 

d, ESRB has made a significant effort to publicize its 

tings. In addition to a web site, esrb.org, and a 

11-f ree number, 1-800-771—ESRB, it has distributed over 5 I 

llion copies of its brochure called A Parents Guide to 

ying Video Games. 

These brochures are carried by such retailers 

ross the country as Wal-Mart, Toys 'R Us, Hollywood 

deo, Blockbuster, Funco, Best Buys and many others. And 

SA has supported efforts by retailers over the years to 

ke the ESRB system as effective as possible. 
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Today, 100 percent of all video games and 

out 80 percent of all PC games are ESRB rated with the 

jority of the nonrated games in the early childhood 

tegory, games like Blues Clues and the various Disney 

ties aren't submitted for rating for a variety of 

asons. 

Most recently, last October, we wrote to major 

tailers asking that they publicize and enforce the 

tings. I understand that there is concern that ratings 

e not adequate to prevent games from being bought by 

rsons for whom they are rated as not appropriate. 

But it's important to understand that unlike 

ny other entertainment products, such as books or CDs, 

e typical PC or video game costs between 40 and $60, a 

nsiderable sum of money for most teens. Thus, it is not 

rprising that 9 out of every 10 games is actually 

rchased by somebody over 18; that is, the game sale 

ansaction involves an adult. 

This is significant because it suggests that 

we can educate adult consumers, these ratings can be an 

fective tool to empower parents to regulate what they 

ing into the home. This is a critical point. I am a 

rent, as are many of you. It's a 24-hour-a-day job. 

We must monitor the books they read, their 

iends, their schoolwork, their self-esteem, as well as 
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e video and PC games they play. Parents must ask if the 

mes — the game they bring home is rated as appropriate 

r their child. And once the game is home, the parents 

ould watch their child play it to see if it meets their 

stes and standards. And it is okay to use the on/off 

itch as well. 

Much has been said about the possible role of 

deo games in the school shootings and youth violence 

nerally. I am not a behavior psychologist, but there has 

en considerable research in the academic community since 

e 1980s on video games. 

In 1995, the government of Australia 

mmissioned Kevin Durkin at the University of Western 

stralia to review all of the research on video games pro 

d con as part of this consideration of whether to 

gulate them. Durkin reviewed dozens of studies on the 

sue of video games and aggression, including those which 

ggest a link and those which do not. 

His conclusion follows: A small number of 

perimental studies have been reported. Either no or 

nimal effect has been obtained. Some very tentative 

idence indicates that aggressive play may be cathartic 

ich promotes the release of aggressive tensions for some 

dividuals, though this work is open to methodological 

iticisms. 
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Overall, evidence is limited but so far does 

t lend strong support to the claims that computer game 

aying promotes aggressive behavior. Durkin is not alone 

that conclusion that video games do not cause 

dividuals to become more aggressive in real life. 

And I think most objective researchers would 

ree that more work in this area would be helpful. But I 

ink most would also agree that bold statements that claim 

fact that video games cause violent behavior are at best 

erstated and at worst at odds with prevailing academic 

terature. 

Finally, I would caution you to review any 

search or claims in this area carefully. Opinions that 

e not backed up by empirical peer reviewed research 

volving video game players should not be the basis for 

licy. Moreover, examine the research carefully. 

thodology does matter, sample size matters, and accurate 

terpretation of data matters as well. 

I'd like to tell you as well about additional 

forts we're undertaking as an industry to increase the 

fectiveness of our rating system. First, we will take 

w steps to increase the visibility of the ESRB ratings, 

crease parental awareness of them and to encourage their 

e. 

The IDSA board will meet shortly to evaluate 
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tions to accomplish this goal, including the possibility 

paid media, public service announcements, retailer 

treach and outreach with parent and teacher groups to 

plore whether there are ways to get ESRB material such as 

r brochure into the hands of parents through the schools. 

d we would welcome the Committee's help in this endeavor. 

Second, the IDSA will explore ways to 

courage retailers to enforce the ratings. While our 

dustry has the ability to rate the product, we cannot 

quire retailers to enforce it. Each retailer must adopt 

s own policies. And to that end, you will hear from Mark 

sher from Hollywood Video who will tell you how their 

mpany handles the rental of video games to children in a 

ry responsible manner. 

Our goal is to work cooperatively with 

tailers to institute systems that limit the ability of 

rsons under 17 to buy or rent mature rated products and 

tter educate the consumers and employees as well as 

rents on the use of the rating system. 

A focus on better education and better 

tailer enforcement I believe will continue to allow us to 

rike a proper balance between effective self-regulation 

d protecting freedom of expression guaranteed by the 

nstitution. 

Let me end on a personal note. I am not a fan 
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violent video games nor do I purchase them for my 

ildren. But as I noted earlier, tens of millions of 

ople of all ages play video games of all kinds; and they 

e perfectly capable of separating fantasy from reality. 

They know the difference between fighting to 

ve a world from animated aliens with a controller such as 

is, and carrying out premeditated murder in a school yard 

th real guns is quite different. 

Something was terribly wrong with these boys 

Colorado. I do not have an explanation for what 

ppened, but video games did not teach them to become 

zis, to hate. And video games did not isolate them from 

eir peers. 

As an industry, we have a record of making 

rious efforts to address concerns about a minority of 

me content. We will continue to try and meet that 

ligation. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Ms. Markels. 

11 turn this over to the Committee for any questions they 

ght have. Representative Hennessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Ms. Markels, I noticed on your first page of 

ur prepared testimony you referred — there's apparently 

en an editorial change. And toward the end of the second 

last paragraph, instead of calling them video computer 
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mes, you called them video educator games. 

What exactly do some of the kind of programs 

at were the target of the — Mr. Grossman's comments 

ucate children to do? 

MS. MARKELS: Well, we have Phonics with Fred. 

have — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: No, I'm not talking 

out Phonics with Fred. I'm talking about the kind of 

ogramming, the FATS simulators that Mr. Grossman was 

Iking about. What kind of education is behind the 

velopment and the distribution of those particular games? 

MS. MARKELS: I'm not sure which games Mr. 

ossman was talking about. I didn't see the game that was 

the computer screen. I assume it was a game such as 

om which is a first person action game, and there are 

olent segments in it. It's — it is a game. It is rated 

and it is not — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: That's for mature 

diences? 

MS. MARKELS: For mature audiences. It's not 

tended for persons under 17. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: But what does it — 

at does it educate — what does a mature rated video game 

tend to educate people to do? 

MS. MARKELS: I'm not sure if I can answer 
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ur question. I can tell you that when a game is rated M, 

at in the opinion of the rating board, it is not suitable 

r those persons under 17. You have to speak to the 

ntent developers. 

I can't speak as to the purpose of what the 

me is. And I'm not here to defend individual games 

ther. I can't tell you what the purpose of Doom is. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. So some of 

e video products that your companies — or your industry 

ts out may be educational and some may not be educational 

all? Or are you saying you just don't know what the 

ucational purpose is? 

MS. MARKELS: When we spoke about educational 

mes, I was talking about games such as Phonics With 

ed — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Phonics With Fred. 

MS. MARKELS: — Kindergarten Start-up. Both 

e games — we have games that are based on — they're 

ucational and games that are entertainment. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Your industry 

eates — created a ratings system. And if I understood 

ur testimony correctly, you ask retailers to enforce it; 

t you don't feel that you have any enforcement 

ternatives available to the industry? 

MS. MARKELS: We are very proud of the steps 
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•ve taken. Our rating system was created five years ago. 

d in that short time, just about 100 percent of all 

ties are rated. We've worked with groups such as the 

deo Software Dealers Association, which has adopted what 

ey call a Pledge to Parents where they pledge to keep 

vies that are rated R as well as video games that are 

ted M out of the hands of children without parental 

nsent. 

And in the state of Washington, we've been 

rking with the Local Retailer Trade Association. And 

ey've come forward adopting the Pledge to Parents across 

e board covering all retailers in the state. That is our 

al, to work with the retail community to make sure they 

ve information about the rating system and they enforce 

at every level in the community. 

One of the things we are working with is a 

ogram that when an M rated game is scanned at the cash 

gister that the question comes up for the clerk, check 

This is an industry that is committed to working with 

rents and consumers to give them the information they 

ed to make informed purchase and rental decisions. 

And we are committed to working with our 

tailers to make that possible as well. And we've 

ceived a lot of support from the retail community as 

11, and they're very pleased about that. 
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REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: If the retailer 

esn't check the ID, is there any — any consequence to 

e retailer for not doing that? Or are we back in a 

tuation where your industry says, Well, we've asked them 

follow our guidelines, but we can't enforce them? 

MS. MARKELS: Consumers, as in all areas, can 

te with their pocketbook. And if a retailer — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: That's not what I 

ked. I asked whether or not there is any punishment for 

e retailer? 

MS. MARKELS: I'd like to try to answer, if I 

uld. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Sure. Why don't 

u answer that question first, if you would. 

MS. MARKELS: Retailers, you know, are members 

the community. They live in the community. They pay 

xes in the community. They employ people in the 

mmunity. And retailer — if a retailer is not civically 

sponsible, consumers have a choice as to whether they do 

siness with them. 

If we get a complaint with a consumer, we will 

H o w up with that retailer as well. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: And what 

forcement does your industry do when you follow up with 

e retailer after a complaint from a consumer? 
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46 
MS. MARKELS: We have the power of persuasion. 

t as a former assistant district attorney, I'd ask — or 

ise a question as to how many police officers are 

ailable in the City of Pittsburgh or Philadelphia to go 

to the Wal-Marts, the Targets and the Blockbusters that 

quire the enforcement? 

If you have an industry that's willing to 

gulate itself, we think that takes a lot of pressure off 

cal municipalities that are hard-pressed to have cops, 

ough cops on the street to protect them from areas that 

ey need protection. 

This is an industry that is willing to do its 

b. We're a young industry. And we need to work harder., 

d we need to do more. But we are willing to do that. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I guess I'm 

nfused when you say you're an industry that's willing to 

gulate itself, but you tell us that you cannot enforce 

en the guidelines that you publish because the retailers 

e free to do whatever they want. 

And when I asked you how do you enforce it, 

u say, Well, we can't turn them over to the police 

cause the local police forces are over-burdened so 

ere's really no enforcement. It sounds like a circular 

gument. 

MS. MARKELS: Well, what I was suggesting was 
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the state passed their own rating statute, the state 

uld be hard-pressed to have local enforcement spend their 

me enforcing the guidelines. But one of the problems 

ises under the antitrust laws is the antitrust laws 

ohibit us from controlling what retailers do in the 

immunity. 

We can use our powers of persuasion, and we 

tend to do so. But we cannot force them or cut them off 

om the supply field or that would be violating the 

titrust laws. And there are criminal penalties for doing 

at, and we can do that. 

But we believe that we can achieve the same 

als by voluntary industry cooperation. And we'd be 

lling and happy to bring members of the retail community 

before this Committee to sit down and talk about what 

tailers can do. 

Mister — Mr. Fisher is here from Hollywood 

deo. He can tell you what the video retail and rental 

mmunities are willing to do. We can bring members of the 

If-regulating community, the Wal-Marts, the Targets, the 

st Buys as well to develop policy. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Can I ask you, if 

ur industry truly believes there is no relationship at 

1 to the video content of the games and the messages that 

e brought — or that are sent to children, why does your 
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dustry even create a rating system? If there's no 

nnection, why have a system at all? 

MS. MARKELS: Well, we do not believe there is 

connection. Well, let me step back to my experience as 

assistant district attorney. One of the bureaus I was 

when I was an attorney there was the Investigations 

reau. We would go to the scenes of the crime, we'd 

vestigate child abuse cases, murders. 

And, you know, I was in that bureau for four 

nths. And in that short tenure, I had two child abuse 

ses where the parents told me they killed their children 

cause the Bible told them to do it. And when I asked 

at do you mean and explored more to get a statement, they 

id, Well, the Bible said spare the rod and spoil child. 

e devil had taken over so and so, and I was beating the 

vil out of him. 

I mean, in answer to your question, we do not 

ow what triggers most people. And based on my 

perience, you can take my four months as an assistant 

strict attorney in investigations saying I had two cases 

ere people cited the Bible. Based on that experience, 

rhaps the Bible is a dangerous tool. That could be 

yond appall to suggest that. 

But we do not know what affects and what 

pacts people. We had one school shooting in Littleton 
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is year, and that is certainly one too many. But out of 

e millions of games, movies, books, records, we had one 

ooting. And to say that the boys played video games is 

obably likely since 80 percent of boys in this country 

• 

But we"ve had school shootings, we've had 

olence, we've had horrendous crime. In fact, crime is 

wn. In the past eight years, crime is dramatically down. 

ery article you read indicates that crime among juveniles 

d crime among adults is dramatically down. 

So one can say there's this inverse 

rrelation between declining crime rates. At the same 

me, some people are saying there's increased violence in 

e media. I think one could argue there's an opposite 

rrelation as to cause and effect. It all depends on what 

mbers you look at. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you very 

ch. Mr. Chairman, I have no other questions. Thanks. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you. And Ms. 

rkels, I would like to ask you if you would consider 

king your answers a little more concise. There are other 

mbers of the panel who have questions for you. And I 

derstand you have — this is a subject of the heart for 

u, perhaps. 

But with the time frames that we're working 
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50 
, if you could try to keep your answers as concise and to 

e point of the question, I'd appreciate that. Not that 

at you have said isn't helpful, but sometimes we're 

tting a lot more than we're asking for. And that would 

minish the time that other panel members would have to 

k you questions so that we can stay to our schedule. 

MS. MARKELS: Certainly. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: All that having been 

id, Representative Masland. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. I think former Defense Attorney Hennessey was 

st relishing the opportunity to question an Assistant DA. 

t he asked a lot of good questions, many of which I would 

ve asked so mine will be very brief. 

On page 5, you cite this 1995 study that was 

mmissioned by the government of Australia. Has your 

sociation commissioned any studies? 

MS. MARKELS: We've had researchers review the 

terature for us and compile the research. And the 

search review that they've brought to us is consistent 

th what Durkin said, that there is no correlation. But I 

11 — if I may, you know, answer your question. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: I'm just asking if 

u've done it. And my reason is this, 1995 is long ago 

d far away. We have gone light year — light years from 
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ere a little figure like Pacman used to gobble up little 

llets. 

And just over the past few years, I think it's 

fe to say that the — the types of games that are being 

Id have changed astronomically. And we've gone from 

ick figures playing hockey and baseball to what looks 

ke real people playing the sports. 

And we've gone from stick figures shooting 

ttle guns to real people shooting and receiving the 

llets. So I would suggest that you do a more recent 

udy, that you conduct a study now because I, quite 

ankly, do not believe that this 1995 study is still 

lid. That being said, I — obviously, I've answered my 

n question. 

MS. MARKELS: Thank you. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Have you looked at 

use Bill 1509? You didn't make any reference to House 

11 1509. You talked about self-regulating and trying to 

t the retailers to do this on their own. House Bill 1509 

es not appear to be excessively burdensome. It takes 

at next step, though. Are there any specific objections 

at you have to this bill? 

MS. MARKELS: I believe there are some serious 

nstitutional issues that are raised with 1509. One of 

e first that I recall, you know — because I don't have 
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52 
e bill in front of me. — is that the bill sets up a 

mber of different standards for regulating whether games 

y be purchased or rented by minors. And one of those is 

violent standard. 

And my understanding is the courts have 

nsistently stated that minors' access to materials may be 

gulated if and only if those materials are obscene or 

rmful to minors under state law. And that is tied into 

e — thank you. — the obscenity definition. 

So any limitation on minors' access to violent 

oducts I do not believe would withstand constitutional 

ster. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Do you have any cases 

cite in that respect? 

MS. MARKELS: Oh, I've — certainly. VSDA v. 

bster. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: If you could get us 

me — in writing — copies of those cases, I'd like to 

ke a look at it. 

MS. MARKELS: I'd be happy to do that. Would 

u like the citations or the actual copies? 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: If you have the 

pies, that would be fine. And I realize we don't have 

ch time so let me just say in closing, on page 6, your 

st paragraph, you say, A focus on better education, 
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tter retail enforcement, and advertising restraint will 

ntinue to allow us to strike the proper balance. 

Let me suggest that you forgot restraint by 

nufacturers and restraint by producers. I think that's 

ere it really needs to start, with the people who are 

mbers of your association. If they do not exercise any 

straint, I don't think you can expect a 16- or 

-year-old to exercise restraint either. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Yes. Thank you, Mr. 

airman. I'll try to keep my questions very brief because 

know the length of the debate here today. I'm appalled 

your comments concerning violent crimes dropping while 

hool crimes committed on school yards are increasing 

emendously over the last three years. 

And I just do not understand your correlation. 

just wanted to make that comment. Secondly, do you 

lieve that children should have access to M titled 

deos? 

MS. MARKELS: No, I don't. And we have a 

ting system which gives parents the ability — I do not 

low my children to have access to M rated games. 

casionally, I allow my daughter to see an R rated movie. 

e's 13, but that's my individual choice. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Then you agree — then 
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u agree that retailers should be punished if they provide 

cess — sell or give children access to M rated videos? 

MS. MARKELS: I do not believe they should be 

nished. I think retailers need to develop systems and 

chanisms for limiting minors' access. I think the 

oblem with punishing them is you're instituting a 

luntary rating system into state law, and the courts will 

t allow you to do that because the standards that are 

ed exceed the standards of what a state may limit. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: I think what you have 

smoky mirrors. You're not answering the question. You 

id you work with retailers to limit purchase, in your 

stimony, of these videos by children. But what you 

tually do then actually limits anyone's purchase of this 

deo, especially children. What do you do with retailers 

limit this access? 

MS. MARKELS: May I answer that? 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Yes. 

MS. MARKELS: I wasn't sure if you were 

nished. We educate retailers, we train them on what the 

ting system means, and we help them implement systems 

at are designed to allow them to do that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: So you're saying it's 

to them to do it then? 

MS. MARKELS: It is up to them. But as we 
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id — if I just may finish. — they live and work in a 

mmunity. If they violate the community standards, they 

- people vote with their pocketbook. A store that's not 

rally responsible is not a store that will stay in 

siness for long. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Have you ever seen a 

-year-old kid purchase one of these videos with a $50 

11? 

MS. MARKELS: No. Well, let me — can I 

swer your question? I mean, my daughter's 13. She — 

t she knows that our neighborhood theatre will not rent 

give her a ticket to an R rated movie unless a parent 

ys a ticket for her. 

But she knows because of the way we've raised 

r that she will not try to sneak in and get another 

rent in line to do that because we haven't given her the 

rmission. But we believe that retailers can, should, and 

enforce them. 

And we are a young industry, unlike other 

dustries. We're five — five years old. If we need to 

rk harder, we will. And we are committed to doing that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Ma'am, self-policing 

es not work. I'm telling you that right now. When my 

ughter Daliah and her friend Holly went to a recent 

cade and walked through, 90 percent of the children in 
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56 
ere playing violent video games like Mortal Kombat and 

om and a few other things were under the age of 16 years 

d. 

MS. MARKELS: May I answer your question? I 

not represent the arcade part of the business. I 

present the part of the business that — for packaged 

ods, video games in the home. I cannot speak to what 

ppens at arcades. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: These — I'm sorry. 

MS. MARKELS: All I can tell you is that we 

e working with retailers to have them institute systems 

d methods. I do not represent the arcade part of the 

siness. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: I think your testimony 

s that these violent games sold to kids are only a 

action of the market. And as an active responsibility or 

od citizenship, why does not your industry do more to 

mit children's access to these type of games, that small 

action? 

MS. MARKELS: We are — we are trying to do 

at. And we are taking steps. We are meeting with 

tailers, we are working with them. What we were — I met 

th representatives of a group of Video Software Dealers 

sociation last week in California to talk about their 

edge to Parents and to get them to roll it down, to 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



57 
distribute it to their members. And they agreed to do 

at , and they * re happy to do that. 

We visit conventions of retailers. We work 

th them to educate them as to the system. We visit with 

em to teach them that the rating system is important and 

encourage their support and enforcement. We send out 

ndreds of thousands of these posters, hundreds of 

ousands of our brochures to retail outlets where they're 

display. 

We work with them to develop the systems to 

t them to be better corporate citizens. And if we're not 

rfect, we hear you loud and clear. We understand that we 

ed to do a better job. You have our commitment on that. 

d you have, you know, you have my agreement and my 

pport. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: My last question, Mr. 

airman, very quickly is — if he had a hook, he would be 

oking me right now. My last question is what percentage 

— in real dollars, how much does that small fraction 

present in terms of real dollars to the industry? 

MS. MARKELS: I'm sorry. I don't have that 

swer for you. I can get that answer for you. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: I think the Committee 

uld be interested. And also, House Bill 1509 defines 

ese type of titles, these type of games under the 
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finition of obscenity. So I think you need to read the 

11 to really see how the bill marries the constitutional 

sue with the bill itself. 

MS. MARKELS: That — if I could answer you. 

at very issue was litigated in a case called VSDA v. 

bster. That's with respect to video cassettes in the 

d-'80s where it prohibited the sale or rental of violent 

deo cassettes to minors. And that was stricken, and it 

s upheld at the higher court of appeals. 

In fact, it was unconstitutional. And I'd be 

ppy to supply that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Please provide that to 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I want to thank you, 

. Markels, for your testimony. I appreciate your 

ming. Thank you for being here. Our next testifier is 

. Stephen Ragusea. I hope I'm pronouncing that 

rrectly. If not, he can correct me. 

And he's from the American Psychological 

sociation. And while he's getting seated, I want to make 

te for the record that State Senator Jack Wagner has 

bmitted remarks for the record. Each of the members has 

copy of that. 

And also, I want to welcome here this 

ternoon two other members of our Committee, 
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presentatives Walko, second seat to my right, and behind 

is Representative Pat Browne from the Lehigh Valley. 

ctor, did I pronounce your name correctly? 

DR. RAGUSEA: You did it beautifully. Thank 

u. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Excuse me? 

DR. RAGUSEA: I think you did it beautifully. 

gusea is about as good as it gets. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Well, myself having a 

me that oftentimes is mispronounced, I appreciate your 

oblem. But now that you're seated, if you would present 

ur testimony, we'd appreciate it. 

DR. RAGUSEA: Sure. Mr. Chairman, I really 

pt my remarks brief so that I could answer as many 

estions as possible in the short time available. Let me 

gin the statement by thanking the Committee for the 

portunity to address this important issue from a 

ychological perspective. 

My name is Dr. Stephen Ragusea. I'm a member 

the Board of Directors of the Pennsylvania Psychological 

sociation. I also currently sit on the American 

ychological Association's Council of Representatives as a 

presentative of the more than 5,000 psychologists in the 

mmonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

The recent shooting madness in Littleton, 
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lorado's high school took 15 lives and again focused 

erica's attention on violence and youth. Soon the focus 

America's collective consciousness will move to another 

ory. But before that happens, let's try to learn 

mething from this most recent nightmare. 

Littleton, of course, is only the most recent 

ample of a series of such incidents including tragic 

enage murders which have occurred right here in our home 

ate of Pennsylvania. Let's not kid ourselves. Youth 

olence is a complex problem with multiple causes 

eluding the disintegrating American family, wide 

ailability of guns, violence in the media, weakened codes 

morality, and poor individual judgment. 

But the gathering storm of seemingly mindless 

uth violence was predicted years ago in volumes of 

blished research. The research warned of the bitter crop 

be harvested from the seeds of violence sown in our own 

ss media. 

Psychological research, despite what the 

evious speaker stated, has clearly revealed that the mass 

dia do profoundly influence our children, having 

peatedly shown that violence on television, in the movies 

d in video games increases the likelihood of violent 

havior in kids. 

No rational person can examine the scientific 
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ta in its totality and conclude otherwise. After an 

haustive review of hundreds of published research 

tides, three major national studies concluded that 

peated exposure to media violence is one of the 

gnificant causes of violence in our culture. 

These published studies include: First, the 

72 Surgeon General's report; second, the 1982 National 

stitute of Mental Health Ten-Year Follow-Up; and last, 

e report of the American Psychological Association's Task 

rce on Television in Society published in 1992. 

As you know, in addition to this vast body of 

ientific research, there's even some anecdotal evidence 

at at least one recent adolescent killer was actually 

ained in how to kill entirely by playing video games. We 

st change the way we teach our children. 

We must reexamine and redefine the terms 

ntertainment" and "education." We must return to an era 

ere responsible people with good judgment decided that 

me of our fantasies were not suitable to be made into 

jor motion pictures, television shows and video games for 

ds. 

We don't need government censorship in the 

ts. What we do need are procedure — I'm sorry. — 

oducers and distributors of art to be responsible 

tizens of society. 
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This Committee can help by supporting 

propriate legislation which would make it illegal to 

stribute violent video games to kids under the age of 18. 

en I use the term "violent", I'm referring to the 

rtrayal of gratuitous, graphic violence which may include 

enes of murder, dismemberment, disfigurement, torture, 

distic sex, stabbing, shooting, impaling or other acts of 

utalization directed against human beings or other 

ntient creatures. Such legislation would begin to 

dress at least one element of this complex societal 

oblem. 

I would strongly encourage the Committee to 

ke use of some resources developed by the American 

ychological Association. APA has prepared a guide which 

dresses some of the relevant issues such as how to 

cognize the warning signs of violent behavior and what 

uses violent behavior and how to prevent it. 

Those who are computer savvy can access this 

terial on the Internet by going to http://helping.apa.org 

d clicking on the button that says "Warning Signs." For 

ose individuals who prefer to call, they may call 

800-268-0078 and ask for a copy of the brochure entitled 

arning Signs." For the benefit of the Committee, I 

stributed copies of this brochure to each of you today. 

This is a problem that can be fixed. Let's 
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x it. We can do better. Now I'm available for your 

estions. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Doctor. And 

ie first member of the Committee that would like to ask 

iu some questions is Representative Browne. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Thank you for your testimony. You had mentioned 

nerally about studies — 

DR. RAGUSEA: Yes, sir. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: — that have been done 

relation to the media and video games and how they 

feet children. But you also mentioned that violence for 

ildren is based on a lot of complex risk factors that 

terrelate? 

DR. RAGUSEA: Yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Could you go into the 

udies in a little more detail and explain how they took 

to account the different risk factors and how they zeroed 

on how video games have a relationship to violent ~ 

tivity? 

DR. RAGUSEA: Sure. As much as possible, what 

e behavioral scientists do is try and identify as many 

variables as possible. When I'm talking about variables, 

m talking about different factors that can affect 

ybody's given behavior. 
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64 
So children would, for example, typically be 

tched up in terms of their age, their sex, their 

ucational background, their financial status, their 

rents* education, things of that nature, their health. 

d what we'd have typically is two groups. 

One of the groups would be an experimental 

oup, and the other group would be a — what's called a 

ntrol group. I'm sorry. I was blanking out on the term 

r a second. So the other group would be the control 

oup. And what you would do is varied depending on the 

periment, of course. 

But one experiment might go something like 

is. We take a group of kids matched as controls and 

perimental subjects. And we'd have the experimental 

bjects play a video game for an hour, and then we'd have 

e control group playing with some other kind of game for 

hour. 

It may even be a video game, but it may be one 

at doesn't involve violent behavior, whereas the 

perimental one involves violence in the video game 

ntent. And then what we do is we monitor what those 

ildren do for the remainder of the day. 

And what we see is the kids who play violent 

deo games or watched violent TV or watched violent movies 

e much more likely than the control group is to engage in 
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olence throughout the remainder of the day so that the 

perimental group winds up being shown fairly consistently 

get in more fights on the school playground, to try and 

ttle problems in a more aggressive way as opposed to in a 

nviolent way that enhances everybody's well-being. 

And that's the kind of experiment that's 

pically done. Now, there are some that are more complex 

an that. There are some studies that have been done, for 

ample, matching up the number of hours children spend 

tching violent television or playing violent video games 

d then seeing what their long-term results are. 

So for example, we'll take that group of 

perimental kids again and we'11 — we'11 say that what 

're going to do is monitor all kids who watch — who are 

rticipating in this study, some of whom watched TV and 

ayed video games for less than 10 hours a week, some of 

om watched violent video games and watched violent TV for 

re than 30 hours a week. 

And we've actually followed that up up to the 

d-20's in age. And we've been able to see that the 

ildren who are more involved in those violent activities 

television and on video games and watching violent 

vies are much more likely to have been arrested by the 

me they're 25 for violent behaviors in society. 

So that that kind of correlational data has 
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en collected as well over a long term. So we try and 

ntrol for as many of these variables as possible. It's 

ry difficult because we can't treat human subjects like 

boratory rats. 

We can't ask for people to volunteer their 

ildren to be kept in a socially isolated environment and 

t us test them with video games, see how cruel we can 

ke them. But based upon the amount of data that's been 

thered, no reasonable person can conclude that there is 

t danger in this behavior. 

And these studies I pointed you to, these 

eat mega studies that were done each of these decades 

mply — what they did was told us this was going to 

ppen. This isn't a surprise. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Is there — just one 

llow-up comment or question. Do the studies take into 

count parental involvement with the child? 

DR. RAGUSEA: They try to by using variables 

ke household income and things of that nature. It's very 

fficult to do because you have to go by people's 

llingness to be honest about how many hours they spend 

th their kids. 

It's very tough to do. But it's — an 

fort's been made in some studies to try and control for 

at. Obviously, parents are the most important variable, 
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my judgment at least. But we can help in other ways. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you very much. 

ank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Mr. Chairman, I have no 

estions. I just want to thank the gentleman for his 

stimony today. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Masland. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Actually, I also want 

thank him for illuminating us with the fact that there 

e other studies out there other than a 1995 study 

nducted by Crocodile Dundee. And I appreciate the fact 

at we have done some research in the United States and 

at it can be illuminating as well. 

DR. RAGUSEA: I thought that was a valid point 

u made, by the way. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative 

nnessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Professor Ragusea, I think we all agree that 

rtain children can watch these violent videos and 

obably not be effected at all and that a small percentage 

the kids that watch them do have some adverse profound 

action to them and act out accordingly. 
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In the standards that you would like to see 

veloped, would you be targeting videos that — in trying 

find ways to eliminate them from the market — the ones 

at basically focus on the — on the small percentage of 

ildren who have these adverse reactions? Or are the 

andards that — you know, you suggested yet in your 

stimony by saying we can fix this problem. 

What kind of standards are you aiming at — or 

at kind of standards are you suggesting and what targets 

e you aiming at? 

DR. RAGUSEA: Well, first of all, what I tried 

do in my testimony was try and refine the definition of 

olence a little bit as I read it in the bill by giving 

me examples of the kind of things I would focus on in 

rms of games that train people to kill, maim, torture and 

ings of that nature. 

To answer the first part of your question 

xt, I don't think we can focus on — on the particular at 

sk group that's most likely to eventually commit mass 

rder. I don't think we're sophisticated enough to do 

at. There's another psychologist at Cornell named Jim 

rbarino, and Jim has a great metaphor for this. 

What he does is he says it's like air 

llution. Air pollution affects us all. Some of us just 

n't see a beautiful sunset because the air's too gray. 
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t for some of us, things are so severe that we have 

thma; and for some people, we die from emphysema. 

Video game violence, television violence, 

vie violence is a form of pollution in our lives. It 

minishes all of us. It reduces our sensitivity to 

olence. It makes us more angry, cruel people. So from 

point of view, reducing our exposure to these things in 

neral is probably a healthy thing for all of us, just 

ke controlling air pollution in general is a healthy 

ing. 

And I don't think there's any way to focus on 

y specific group that might be most at risk. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. In light of 

ur last comments, let me just revisit the first question 

asked you. And that's — I suggested to you that perhaps 

me children can watch these things and not have any 

verse reaction. 

Do I understand you to say that everybody's 

ving some sort of an — some sort of diminishment or it's 

rmful in some respects but simply not elevated to an 

verse reaction or some sort of — 

DR. RAGUSEA: This is a statement I can't back 

with research. It's just my personal opinion. And that 

yes, I think we're all being hurt by it. I think we're 

coming a course of society. I think we're becoming a 
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urse of humanity, and I don't think that's healthy for 

• 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you very 

ch. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Doctor, I would tend to 

ree with you, in particular in your last few comments. 

d I think the word that we hear frequently is that we are 

coming desensitized. We see violence. We see people 

ing all the time. 

And we hear the statistics about what the 

erage child sees on TV as far as murder and mayhem. And 

think they've just become insensitive to it. And though 

ly a few will act out those violent scenes perhaps, we 

1 have somewhat become less sensitive to other people 

ing injured or harmed or even killed. And so I think 

ur observations are right on target. 

DR. RAGUSEA: But I don't want us to feel 

lpless about it. There are some things here we can do 

mething about, and this is one of the problems we can 

x. We shouldn't hesitate to fix it. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I understand what 

u're saying. Thank you very much for your testimony 

day. We appreciate your coming here to be with us. 

DR. RAGUSEA: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Our next testifier is 
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ctor C. Romero. He's an Associate Professor of Law at 

e Dickinson School of Law, and he's here this afternoon 

presenting the American Civil Liberties Union of 

nnsylvania. 

And for members of the Committee, there is a 

py of his testimony for you on your desks. Mr. Romero, 

welcome you to our House Judiciary Subcommittee 

eting. And when you're ready to begin, you may do so. 

MR. ROMERO: Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, 

airman Birmelin and other members of the House Judiciary 

mmittee, Subcommittee on Crimes and Corrections. Thank 

u for providing me this opportunity to testify on House 

11 1509. 

My name is Victor Romero. I appear before you 

day in my capacity as Vice President of the South Central 

apter of the ACLU of Pennsylvania. And while I hold the 

tie of Associate Professor of Law at Penn State's 

ckinson School of Law, the views expressed here are not 

be attributed to the law school. 

Over 10,000 members strong, the ACLU of 

nnsylvania is a nonpartisan advocacy organization whose 

le purpose is the protection of the Constitution and the 

11 of Rights. I share with you today the ACLU's 

position to House Bill 1509's ban on the sale or rental 

certain video games to minors. 
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The legislation violates the First Amendment's 

arantees of freedom of speech and expression by 

iminalizing the sale or rental of games deemed by a 

eselected panel to be too violent or obscene for 

stribution to minors. 

Specifically, the bill infringes the rights of 

1 Americans by usurping the Judiciary's duty to determine 

e constitutionality of a work and delegating it to a 

lect group of citizens. It also deprives parents of 

eir right to raise their children as they see fit by 

bstituting the panel's judgment for the parents'. 

At its core, House Bill 1509 punishes persons 

o sell or rent to minors video games that a group of 100 

cides are, quote, excessively violent, unquote, or 

ote/unquote, obscene. The bill impinges upon all 

ericans' right to create, on the one hand, and to enjoy, 

the other, video games of their own choosing. 

Close to 30 years ago, Pennsylvania attempted 

similar restraint on public choice when it passed Act No. 

0 which imposed criminal sanctions on film exhibitors who 

owed movies inappropriate for viewing by minors, 

cording to the voluntary rating system adopted by the 

tion Picture Association of America. 

In Motion Picture Association of America, Inc. 

Specter, the Federal District Court struck Act No. 100 
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vagueness grounds holding that the law's lack of 

certainable standards chilled First Amendment expression. 

More recently, the Supreme Court of Tennessee 

validated as unconstitutionally vague a state nuisance 

atute allowing for the seizure and ultimate forfeiture 

, quote/unquote, excessively violent printed and visual 

terial. 

In this case named Davis-Kidd Booksellers, 

c. v. McWherter, the court held that the law gave no 

idance to those who trade in printed and visual material 

to how to apply the term "excess violence." With its 

ilure to clearly define material that depicts violence in 

graphic manner, House Bill 1509 suffers from the same 

tal flaw as the laws at issue in these precedent cases. 

Just as the Pennsylvania Legislature in the 

AA case ceded authority to industry to create vague 

andards to be used in enforcing criminal sanctions, House 

11 1509 gives virtually unbridled power to a small group 

persons to define what constitutes a depiction of, 

ote, violence in a graphic manner, end quote, without 

ear guidance to creators and consumers of video games, 

us chilling their First Amendment rights. 

And just as the term "excessively violent" 

ve insufficient notice to members of the print industry 

the Davis-Kidd case, House Bill 1509's operative phrase 
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iolence in a graphic manner" is similarly unclear. 

Moreover, unlike its ruling on obscenity, the 

preme court has determined that violent expression is 

otected by the First Amendment. As such, any statute 

tempting to regulate the violent content of an expressive 

rk must be narrowly tailored to accomplish a compelling 

ate interest. 

House Bill 1509's attempt to limit regulation 

depictions of, again, violence in a graphic manner is 

t sufficiently narrow in its scope because its broad 

rms cover many video games that may not be objectionable 

their content. 

In a case involving a Missouri statute similar 

House Bill 1509 that prohibited the sale or rental of 

olent videos to minors, the Eighth Circuit Court of 

peals noted that as written, the statute covered all 

pes of violence. 

And I'm going to quote from this case that 

tually Ms. Markels referred to earlier, the VSDA case v. 

bster. Missouri assures us that the statute does not 

ply to animated violence in many cartoon shows, simulated 

olence in western and war movies, real violence in the 

xing ring, or psychological violence in suspense stories 

thrillers. 

The statute, however, provides no support for 
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ssouri's assurance. So like the Missouri statute in 

DA, House Bill 1509's terms cover video games that 

ciety might not deem harmful to children. Indeed, one 

pellate court judge has noted recently that it is unclear 

ether a law regulating depictions of violence and crime 

uld actually be drafted to survive constitutional 

rutiny. 

Just as the provisions regarding violent video 

mes are problematic, those involving obscenity are 

kewise suspect but for a different reason. While the 

gulation of obscenity is permissible under the First 

endment, especially where minors are involved, House Bill 

09 is superfluous legislation in light of existing 

nnsylvania criminal law that already prohibits the sale 

loan of obscene material to minors. 

In fact, the bill at issue references Title 18 

the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statute, Section 5903. 

pporters of House Bill 1509 contend that the violence in 

ny contemporary video games leads to violent juvenile 

havior. However, there is no conclusive scientific proof 

at video games or any other form of expression actually 

uses, as a legal matter, violence or other undesirable 

nduct. 

Courts have consistently rejected claims that 

tists, publishers or other creative enterprises can be 
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Id responsible for the occasional acts of unstable 

dividuals. I have several cites there that I will leave 

u to look up at some other point. 

Indeed, any legislative attempt to control 

iminal behavior by restricting one's exposure to artistic 

pression would set a dangerous precedent because many 

iminals have identified legitimate works of art as 

spirations for their wrongdoings. For example, Jon 

nkley cited the movie Taxi Driver as the source for his 

spiration for attempting to assassinate then President 

nald Reagan. 

Finally, House Bill 1509 deprives parents of 

e choice to raise their children as they see fit. Even 

most parents in Pennsylvania disagreed with the proposed 

nel as to whether a certain video game was, 

ote/unquote, violence, the minority of 100 would have 

cceeded in imposing its will upon the majority of 

nnsylvania parents. 

Worse yet, the message sent by such 

gislation is that the government selected panel of 100 

ows what is better for Pennsylvania's children than their 

n parents. If the government wants to help parents, 

ere are many other ways to do so that do not adversely 

pact the First Amendment. 

For example, offering children better 
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tematives to playing home video games such as quality 

ter school programs would go further toward giving 

rents the support they need to be good mothers and 

thers without offending the Bill of Rights. 

Because this legislation violates the First 

lendment as a content-based restraint on free expression 

d does not serve the purported purposes of protecting 

nors or aiding their parents, the ACLU strongly urges the 

neral Assembly to firmly reject House Bill 1509. I thank 

u for your time. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Mr. Romero, 

r your testimony. And we'd like to give you the 

portunity to answer some questions. And as I did with 

e of our former testifiers, ask that your answers would 

concise and to the point as much as possible. 

presentative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: What standards would 

e ACLU propose to clarify and perfect the vagueness of 

e current phrase "graphic violence"? 

MR. ROMERO: I think the ACLU's position, sir, 

that while it might be possible that such legislation 

uld be drafted appropriately, its position is that that 

ouldn't be the way that the government should handle this 

sue. 

As I stated in my — the last two pages of my 
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mment, the government should approach this problem in 

me other way, especially since no court has upheld a 

atute that regulates on violence when challenged under 

e First Amendment. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Does the ACLU defend 

e unrestricted access of minors to play Laser Tag? 

MR. ROMERO: I don't know what the ACLU's 

sition is on that, sir. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: How about to play Paint 

.11? 

MR. ROMERO: I don't know what the ACLU's 

sition is on that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Fire real guns? 

MR. ROMERO: I'm sorry. What was that? 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: To fire, discharge real 

ns, weapons? 

MR. ROMERO: I'm sorry. I personally don't 

ow what the ACLU's position is on that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: At what point do we 

aw the line on rights to teach marksmanship and killing 

ills? 

MR. ROMERO: I wouldn't know the answer to 

at. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Then you're saying at 

point, there should be no point? We should not draw the 
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ne? 

MR. ROMERO: Oh, no. I didn't say that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Do you have an answer 

r me? 

MR. ROMERO: No, I don't. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Does the ACLU defend 

e right of minors to practice killing human beings at the 

cal video arcade? 

MR. ROMERO: I wouldn't think so. But again, 

— let me see if I can answer your question this way. I 

ink that the ACLU is suggesting that to the extent that 

olent video games are not treated the same or violent 

pression is not treated the same way as obscenity, the 

preme court has made it very clear that you have to have 

th a compelling state-addressed and a narrowly tailored 

atute. 

And unless you can do that, it seems very 

fficult, given precedent, that that can be achieved. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: And the cases you've 

ted are — are any of those cases from Pennsylvania or 

om any federal or — 

MR. ROMERO: The first case was from 

nnsylvania. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: And that was from 1942? 

MR. ROMERO: Nineteen seventy. 
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REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Nineteen seventy? 

MR. ROMERO: Correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: And that's the most 

cent case law you can cite for the panel? 

MR. ROMERO: Well, with respect to 

nnsylvania, that's the one that I was able to come up 

th. But if you look at the case, it's very similar to 

e — the Act No. 100 at issue is very similar to the bill 

issue today to the extent that it criminalizes conduct 

sed on a rating system. 

The only difference is that the designation of 

e rating system in this particular House Bill goes to a 

eselected panel of 100 as opposed to an industry standard 

veloped by the Motion Picture Association of America. 

t otherwise, the standards are pretty much the same. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Does the ACLU support 

y standard whatsoever that would help regulate video 

mes in the hands of children that are violent video 

mes? 

MR. ROMERO: I don't know what the specific 

sition of the ACLU on that is. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: So basically, this 

sition is your position; is that correct? 

MR. ROMERO: Oh, no. I'm here representing 

e ACLU. And what I was charged to do was to take a look 
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the law and describe it in a way that we saw the 

ecedent. And I don't know as to the other hypotheticals 

at you've thrown out what the specific position of the 

LU would be. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Does the ACLU have a 

itten position on this issue? Is this position presented 

day your position on behalf of the ACLU? 

MR. ROMERO: I'm not sure that I understand 

e distinction. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Well, there is a 

stinction, and it does have a difference. The 

stinction is this: Is this position today your position 

behalf of the ACLU, or is this a written position that 

s formulated by the ACLU and you're presenting that 

sition? 

MR. ROMERO: Let me answer it this way: I 

afted this with the — and it was shared with Larry 

ankel, the Legislative Director of the ACLU; and he 

proved it. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: So two of you? 

MR. ROMERO: Correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Was it voted on by 

yone else at the ACLU? Was it presented to the board? 

MR. ROMERO: No. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you. No further 
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estions. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Masland. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: I think you really 

it into the question. I guess the bottom line is, it's 

st a question of definition. And the ACLU's position is 

at it may be possible to craft legislation that does not 

olate the Constitution, but 1509 does not do that; is 

at correct? 

MR. ROMERO: That would be a fair 

presentation. Although, again, I would add that there 

s not been a case to date that has upheld a violence type 

atute. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: No one else has been 

le to do that. You cited the judge who said it may not 

possible? 

MR. ROMERO: That's correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: So the question is 

ether we can come up with that magic formula? 

MR. ROMERO: That's correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE MASLAND: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative 

nnessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Professor Romero, I'm going to have to hike it 

ck 25 or so plus years to my law school training in terms 
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constitutional limits of free speech. But I do remember 

e — I think it was Holmes who talked about not having 

e right to yell fire in a crowded theatre. 

As I remember being taught that concept, there 

.s some indication that the right to free speech carried 

th it some responsibility. And I guess what seems to be 

e nub of House Bill 1509 is a feeling on the part of the 

ople that the industry has abdicated its responsibility 

portraying excessive violence, graphic violence and yet 

ill wants to hide behind the shield of — of the First 

lendment. 

I thought the two went hand in hand. 

sponsible speech was protected. But it seems we've come 

most 180 degrees and said to where the industry can say, 

: can be as irresponsible, as unresponsive to — to public 

rality as we wish to be. 

But we still have the other half of that 

gument, that other half of the balancing test which is 

e right to the First Amendment guarantee of free speech. 

MR. ROMERO: Well — 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Is there a problem 

- I mean, am I missing something? Or maybe you just want 

> comment on that. 

MR. ROMERO: I am not an expert on the First 

sendment in particular. My area is more the equal 
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otection rights of immigrants. But my understanding of 

e categories of First Amendment protection and exception, 

u — you referred to the don't shout fire in a crowded 

.eatre, for example. 

And the idea behind that beside from other 

iecific categories of speech that can be regulated, for 

:ample, liable obscenity, shouting these fighting words, 

e that aside from those specific areas, if you're going 

i have content-based regulation with respect to any other 

ea of speech, that must be subject to the strictest 

rutiny. 

The idea being that whether you characterize a 

irm of speech as responsible or irresponsible is really a 

t of times up to the hearer. And so aside and apart from 

ese specific exceptions, the courts are going to look 

ry stringently at content-based regulation such as the 

e that we have before us in terms of this violent 

pression bill. 

I think that the main difference between your 

;ample of the fire in a crowded theatre and this 

rticular bill is the question of imminence. I think what 

stice Holmes was getting at was that, is there an 

ininent connection between the speech that is made and 

me particularized harm that may result. 

And one could argue that there isn't that same 
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rt of nexus between the language here and the juvenile 

havior, the criminal behavior of juveniles. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. You had also 

idicated in your testimony that there was a distinction 

itween violent — the control — or whatever controls 

.ght exist with regard to the depiction of violent 

ihavior and those controls which exist regulating the 

ipiction of obscenity? 

MR. ROMERO: That is correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Are there times 

ten those two categories cross over each other? I mean, 

e you telling us that you could have a situation of 

yhem violence to an animated human — or realistic human 

irm, dismemberment, torture before dismemberment, and then 

tat would always remain a separate category and not become 

iscene? 

Or is there some time when violent behavior 

;self can be so outrageous that it passes into the realm 

: obscenity? 

MR. ROMERO: I think the crux of the obscenity 

sfinition has to do with an appeal to — and the term is 

lis prurient interest, essentially a sex-based interest. 

id to the extent that that's a requirement under the 

iscenity category, violence that does not include some 

peal to sexual interest is therefore not included under 
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at category. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: So under 

aditional American jurisprudence, you're saying that 

scenity always has a sexual content? 

MR. ROMERO: That is my understanding. 

rrect. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: In one of the 

scenity cases from back in the '40s or '50s, I think one 

the justices said, "I can't tell you what obscenity is, 

t I know it when I see it." Well, is the — can this 

nel at some point look forward to a situation where we 

n simply view a video game and say, My God, that's — 

at is, you know, unconstitutionally violent or it is — I 

an, I'm seeing it in a much broader sense than — it just 

esn't seem to have any redeeming social value at all 

cept perhaps to the industry who can make money on it. 

MR. ROMERO: I think unless the supreme court 

cides to create a separate category called violence, then 

fortunately — or fortunately, depending on your point of 

ew. — violence will be treated as a separate 

ntent-based regulation that is subject to stricter 

rutiny than obscenity. 

So it would have to take the supreme court to 

y that violence is a category that is not subject to 

nstitutional protection just as obscenity, liable 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



87 
girting words, et cetera. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: But until we get 

>me legislation that finds the proper balance and defines 

olence as a separate category, the supreme court will 

ver be able to pass upon that statute because we won't 

ve passed one? 

MR. ROMERO: That's my understanding. 

rrect. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. Thank you. 

further questions. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Professor 

mero. We appreciate your testimony and the fact that you 

me to share it with us today. 

MR. ROMERO: Thank you, sir. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you very much. 

r next testifier is Mark Fisher, Vice President of Retail 

erations for West Coast Video. And while he's coming to 

e table, let me also introduce Representative Harold 

mes to my right and behind me. He is the counterpart of 

position; that is, he is the Democratic Chair of the 

bcommittee on Crime and Corrections. 

Mr. Fisher, we're eagerly awaiting your 

stimony because you've been mentioned a few times already 

day. I don't know if you'll live up to the building or 

it. But when you're prepared to do so, you may begin. 
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MR. FISHER: Okay. Good afternoon, Mr. 

airman and members of the Committee. My name is Mark 

sher. I'm the Vice President, Retail Operations of West 

ast Video headquartered nationally in Langhorne, 

nnsylvania. We're a video retail chain of 255 stores in 

states, primarily operating in Pennsylvania, 

ssachusetts, New York and New Jersey. 

I also serve on the Government Affairs 

mmittee of the Video Software Dealers Association, VSDA, 

ich is the trade organization that represents the $16 

llion home video entertainment industry. 

Established in 1981 by a group of 24 video 

ore owners, VSDA currently enjoys a membership of more 

an 3,400 companies that range from thousands of smaller 

dependently owned retail video outlets to large 

lti-store video store chains. I'm also a proud resident 

Newtown Township in Bucks County. 

Video game rental is an important and ever 

creasing segment of the video rental business. Between 7 

d 10 percent of revenues in our stores comes from video 

me rentals and purchases. 

When it comes to youth access to these video 

mes, we believe the voluntary rating system supported by 

e Entertainment Software Rating Board provides parents 

rrently with the most reliable information for making 
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cisions about their children's play. 

We firmly believe that parents, not the 

vernment, know what forms of entertainment are suitable 

r their own children. VSDA also believes that we should 

ovide parents with all available information about our 

tertainment products to help them make informed and 

propriate choices for their children. 

To that end, I'd like to take a moment to tell 

u about VSDA's Pledge to Parents which was implemented in 

91. It's a policy of VSDA member stores participating in 

e Pledge to Parents Program not to rent or sell video 

pes or video games designated as restricted to persons 

der the age of 18 without parental consent, including all 

vies rated R by the Motion Picture Association of America 

d all video games rated M by the Entertainment Software 

ting Board. 

It is also the policy of these Video Software 

aler Association member stores not to rent or sell video 

pes rated NC-17 by the Motion Picture Association of 

erica or video games rated Adult Only by the 

tertainment Software Rating Board to persons under the 

e of 18. 

The manner in which parental consent may be 

ven varies according to the method that works best for 

ch retail store. For example, some video retailers allow 
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e parents to designate restrictions or permissions in 

eir computer-based membership files as we do in our 

ores. 

In addition to voluntarily restricting minors' 

cess to certain video games and video tapes, some video 

tailers may make a determination that other video tapes 

d games, including those that are not rated by the MPAA 

the ESRB, should not be rented or sold to minors without 

rental consent. 

Our store employees are members of the 

mmunity. We have a responsibility to the communities 

at we operate in. Our store managers most often live in 

e communities that they operate in. They know their 

stomers by name. 

Our customers are our neighbors. We take 

ide in our entertainment offerings, and we realize that 

r reputation is on the line every time we rent a game or 

movie. Bottom line, our ultimate goal is repeat 

stomers, and we can't meet that objective by renting 

appropriate games to children. 

We believe the nearly decade old Pledge to 

rents Program demonstrates VSDA's strong commitment to 

rving our communities. But we also recognize that we 

ed to do a better job educating our customers and parents 

out the video game rating system and other content 
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formation available to them. 

You have my pledge that in the months ahead, 

DA will launch programs to publicize the Pledge to 

rents Program and better familiarize our customers with 

e video game rating program. We believe this kind of 

luntary industry-led programming can make a difference. 

I understand, however, that there have been 

lis introduced that would impose rating schemes and 

iminal liability on video stores and other retail 

tablishments. I have several concerns about such 

gislation. 

First, many mainstream video games that are 

cially acceptable to the majority of Pennsylvania 

sidents could be the focus of prosecution brought against 

deo stores. The cost of fighting such prosecution would 

doubtedly force most video stores, particularly small 

dependent-owned stores, to close their doors. 

Second, to avoid the likelihood of criminal 

osecution, video stores may be forced to carry only the 

ldest video games that don't fall within the broad 

finition of violent behavior in legislation bills like — 

gislation like House Bill 1509 and Senate Bill 960. 

The threat of prosecution, conviction, fines 

d imprisonment, as well as the potential for negative 

blicity simply outweighs the risk of keeping many video 
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mes in stock. As a result, customers, including adults, 

uld be denied access to many of the popular video games 

ey now enjoy. 

The impact of such a reduction in stock on 

nnsylvania's video stores would be hard felt, possibly 

en forcing some stores to reduce their staff or maybe 

ke a difference in their ability to remain in business. 

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and members 

the Committee. I'd be happy to answer any questions you 

ght have. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you for your 

stimony. And there are some members of our panel who 

uld like to ask you some question, and I'll start with 

presentative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Sir, you're aware that House Bill 1509 does not 

terfere with parental rights to give these — their 

ildren any video games they choose? 

MR. FISHER: I do understand that the bill 

uld allow games as rated to be rented by the parents. 

rtainly. I do understand that. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: And it appears from at 

ast your last three pages that one of the bases for 

nsideration for this Committee to take in consideration 

r an analysis of this bill at least to vote on this bill 
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uld be that its financial impact upon defending any 

tigations may be brought against the video store as well 

the loss of business that may be generated by taking 

ese types of titles off the shelf or, in the alternative, 

stricting to sell some of these videos or rentals of 

ese videos by children? 

MR. FISHER: Let me again say that our goal — 

know that we can do better. And we as an industry can 

d will do better at educating the consumer and at 

If-restricting the rental of product. But please 

cognize that a — that punitive damages, if — would 

nitive damages have — would punitive damages — would 

nitive damages actually restrict a minor from renting the 

me and if action had been taken based on that game — and 

m not saying that — and I don't know — I'm certainly 

t a child psychologist. 

I certainly don't know that there's a cause 

d effect. But if there was a cause and effect, would 

nitive damages have stopped the child from renting the 

me? Punitive damages wouldn't have done that. Punitive 

mages would have made the video retailer perhaps a bit 

re careful but not more careful than we'll be able to 

ke the video retailer. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: I'm kind of confused. 

MR. FISHER: I may have — 
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REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Yeah. I'm kind of 

infused by your use of the word "punitive damages." I 

m't think that this — I mean, if you're talking about 

nancially punishing someone by levying a fine against 

em, assessing a fine for violation of this law, I don't 

ink that that's a fine, and/or some other consequences as 

t forth by it being a third degree misdemeanor. 

I don't think punitive damages, in the 

oadest legal sense, would be applicable here unless 

ere's some sort of civil litigation in which punitive 

mages may be awarded. So I just want you to understand 

ere's a difference between punitive damages and fines 

sessed by this legislation. I don't think I have any 

her questions. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Browne. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Thank you for taking the time to testify — 

MR. FISHER: Sure. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: — in front of us 

day. The issue I sort of have with self — I guess 

lf-regulating in terms of the overall industry, I know 

at in most cases you're going to have a situation where' a 

anchisee is a member of the community and they're 

sponsible business owners. That's going to be the large 

jority of the circumstances. 
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But there is a possibility that someone who 

s financial difficulties or looking to expand its — 

eir market would resort to doing things that would be 

tside of industry standards. What would the industry do 

the case of such retailer in terms of self-regulating to 

ke sure that didn't happen? 

MR. FISHER: I don't know that I can answer 

at. I don't know that the industry, frankly, has the 

dlity to take sanction. But again, recognize that the 

nsumer ultimately makes a decision. Video stores are 

ical community stores. 

And the consumer will ultimately make the 

cision. If the consumers in the community find a store 

i be not responsible, that store won't be the success in 

e marketplace and probably won't last. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: How would the — how 

>uld that information get out that a store was being 

•responsible, would it just be the fact that the parent 

mnd out the child purchased or rented the video game? 

MR. FISHER: Yes. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Does the Motion 

cture Association of America have any voluntary sanctions 

ainst the theatres that don't comply with their rating 

stem? 

MR. FISHER: I can't answer that question. I 
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n't know. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: And it's only — the 

ly real concern I have in regards to the voluntary rating 

the level of deterrence. One thing that government does 

that it has penalties for noncompliance with statutes 

d regulations. 

And the penalties are not really there to 

nalize. They're there to deter any unlawful or 

appropriate activity. And if there's no downside risk at 

1 for any retailer — no matter how rare it might be — 

r any retailer to do something that would be outside of 

dustry standards, I think there's a potential loophole. 

d it's something that this legislation does try to 

dress. 

MR. FISHER: Again, I do believe that there is 

long-term downtime and I'd say a more short-term — in 

day's day and age — downside risk to the retailer for 

mply not being the retailer of choice in the community. 

REPRESENTATIVE BROWNE: Thank you very much. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative 

nnessey. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Thank you, Mr. Fisher. West Coast Video, does 

- does the company have a policy with regard to requiring 

full range of videos to be stocked by its franchisees? 
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MR. FISHER: I can't answer that question. I 

n the retail operations division. I run the retail 

erations division, the corporate-owned stores. I can't 

swer a question regarding our franchisees, our policy on 

anchisees. I don't believe that's the case. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: In terms of — 

11, let me ask you this. If I was a franchisee of West 

ast Video and I chose to simply not stock certain videos, 

ther video games or films because I chose — I personally 

und them to be offensive, would I be required — or would 

ere be any sanctions from West Coast Video against me as 

store owner or operator? 

MR. FISHER: No, there wouldn't. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: So if a West Coast 

anchisee says that it doesn't want to have a — an adult 

lm section in its store, that's an acceptable alternative 

West Coast Video and you wouldn't punish the — 

MR. FISHER: Again, sir, I run the store 

erations, our corporate-owned stores. I don't believe 

, no. I can't answer that question directly. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. The 

rporate-owned stores uniformly from West Coast Video have 

adult section? 

MR. FISHER: No, sir. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: They don't? 
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MR. FISHER: No. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Can you tell us 

at the policy is with regard to whether they do or do 

t? 

MR. FISHER: Our policy is truly based on our 

pectations of community interest. And if there's what we 

lieve to be a demand for product — or a demand for 

oduct in a certain geographic area and our store size is 

rge enough, then we put an adult department in that 

ore. In others, we don't. It's a store-by-store 

cision. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: You told us at the 

ttom of page 3 of your testimony that some retailers can 

ke a decision on their own as to whether or not certain 

deo tapes or games should or should not be rented to 

ople without parental consent? 

MR. FISHER: That was specifically directed 

garding nonrated games that aren't — games that aren't 

rrently rated. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Do you allow your 

ore owners to simply not stock some of the more 

cessibly violent films? 

MR. FISHER: Again, I can only go back to our 

rporate stores where we direct basically general product 

ing into stores. And again, it's a — a buyer 
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ore-by-store decision based on the demand and types of 

oduct that are rented in each individual store. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I guess what I'm 

tting at is if you — if West Coast Video recognizes the 

ght of individual retailers to simply make their own 

cision that they will not rent certain types of games or 

rry them in their stores, then obviously those retailers 

ve certain rights in a sense of private censorship over 

at their customers will be able to access in their store? 

MR. FISHER: Frankly, in our corporate stores, 

st popular games are in fact in stock and rented. But 

r store staff certainly takes the community 

sponsibility to ensure that those games are only rented 

adults. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. Well, we've 

ard from an earlier witness that there aren't really any 

nsequences if you violate that rule. Is there a 

fferent policy in West Coast Video? 

MR. FISHER: There are in our company, 

rtainly. If I find out — we recently embarked on a 

stery shopper program to look at this situation as well 

a number of others. If I were to find out that a store 

ployee in fact did rent an adult rated video game or a 

ture rated video game or an adult rated tape, for that 

tter, to an underage consumer, normal disciplinary would 
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taken. 

The person would be documented, suspended, and 

cond time out be terminated. We do take that seriously. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: While you recognize 

e right of some individual retailers to pass upon the 

propriateness or inappropriateness of some of the stuff 

at they will rent out to the public, West Coast Video 

ovides it all and that's the choice of the individual 

tailer? 

MR. FISHER: No. West Coast Video, we operate 

ores. We have 255 corporate stores that we in fact run. 

are the retailer. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Well, you say — 

MR. FISHER: I'm sorry. I didn't understand 

e question. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: You said some video 

tailers can make a determination that some types of video 

pes and games, including those that are not rated, should 

t be rented so — 

MR. FISHER: I'm sorry. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: I'm assuming they 

n choose not to carry certain lines. 

MR. FISHER: I'm making that statement on 

half of the VSDA retailers throughout the country, not 

st Coast Video retailers. 
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REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: Okay. But you 

uld still recognize West Coast's right to not carry 

rtain lines if it chose not to do so? 

MR. FISHER: Correct. 

REPRESENTATIVE HENNESSEY: And — all right. 

ver mind. Thank you very much. 

MR. FISHER: Certainly. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Mr. Fisher. 

appreciate your testimony — 

MR. FISHER: Sure. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: — and for taking the 

me to be with us today. Our next testifier is Frank 

rvone. He's an attorney and an Executive Director for 

e Support Center for Child Advocates. Mr. Cervone, 

lcome to the House Judiciary Subcommittee on Crime and 

rrections. And when you feel comfortable, you may begin 

give your testimony. 

MR. CERVONE: Thank you for having me today. 

e Support Center for Child Advocates is Philadelphia's 

wyer pro bono program for abuse and neglected children. 

offer the skills and dedication of lawyer-social worker 

ams, and we represent more than 550 children each year. 

Our work is focused in four core programs: 

use and Neglect, Medically Needy Children, Kinship Care, 

d Adoptions. All of our children are children of 
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verty. For more than 20 years, we have served as a 

source to this Legislature and to the staff; and I thank 

u for the invitation to serve in this role once again. 

en asked, we attempt to offer to you a balanced, candid 

d constructive assessment of what our children need and 

w we're all doing for our kids. 

The video game violence bill leaves some folks 

uddering at the violence that our young people face in 

is violent world of ours and others snickering at the 

trusion to which it aspires. I confess to some of each 

sponse myself. 

I think this bill works to a noble purpose, a 

nviolent childhood. Though commendable, the bill misses 

e mark with its focus on a few videos reprehensible as 

eir content may be. I suggest you look at a broader, 

avier kind of question. What's violence? 

Is it what 100 of us today or at some point in 

e future would say it is? If we were truly committed to 

adicating the violent influences in our culture, we might 

ke on more and different bills. 

Children who are beaten by parents at their 

ts end; children abused or neglected by parents and do 

t see or know a healthy response to their children's and 

eir own needs; gun battles on the streets of 

iladelphia; violence learned from other youths and from 
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ug dealers, not from videos; the violence of the slow 

ath to poverty from facing work without job skills, from 

ising a family on 6 bucks an hour or $11,000 a year, from 

arting out young behind the curve never getting the help 

catch up. These are the forms of violence that concern 

Consider yesterday's Philadelphia Inquirer 

ory which I've reproduced for you in the back of the 

mments. They quote the study of the Casey Foundation 

ds Count, a very reliable source of — of statistics on 

ds. Despite the economic good times, 9.2 American 

ildren, 1 in 7, are in serious distress and at risk of 

ving continuing problems later in life. 

This should be our concern. Where would you 

aw the line on violence? What will be banned? Professor 

mero addressed the significant civil liberties problems 

th this bill. I heard in the tone of some questions a 

rtain cynicism about his position. 

I'm not here to talk about civil liberties but 

ally about the impact on children. But I would flag for 

u this historical trend that in the present moment most 

ags about civil liberties are looked down upon. And it's 

ly in the retrospective years that we find respect for 

at. 

I call your attention to the other part of the 
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me line that you would draw, the behaviors that will be 

lidated when we begin to proscribe the most extreme forms 

violence. For example, the bill says, quote, the 

aphic depiction of violence. 

Where will the censors draw the line? And 

at would get by the censors* screen, the killing without 

ood, the body blow without death? If I got up today and 

eked somebody, we'd call that violent. I'd get arrested. 

at's nowhere close to what this bill would proscribe, of 

urse. 

What forms of killing are not violent? What 

vel of child pain and child neglect and child poverty 

11 we tolerate? I venture the prediction that screening 

t of so-called graphic forms of violence would let in 

ny dangerous and influential effects. 

The flag you would place on the most heinous 

olence is likely to allow into our psyche, to our culture 

d to our video stores less dramatic but just as traumatic 

rms of violence. This is a disconnect. This process of 

ting videos as acceptable only for adults could actually 

lidate all of the rest of this violence. 

Is this the standard we're likely to accept as 

ficient, and is this any way sufficient to achieve your 

ble end? We're likely to continue to tolerate 

numerable forms of violent, hurtful human interactions. 
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: teach and glorify boxing. 

We take our kids to gruesome wrestling 

tches. Spectacles they are, absurdities. We find 

nting to be an ail-American sport. We view the harassed 

did as weird and whining, the bully as youthful and 

:uberant, as a case this week in Bucks County. 

We're a community that thinks it is okay, even 

cessary, to physically discipline our children. We give 

ns as toys to the smallest children, and then we smirk at 

.e critics of such practices, do-gooders or radical gun 

introl freaks. 

We are a culture that is at best ambivalent 

iout violence. What would a group of 100 likely exclude 

om their proscription and thus imply to be okay? By 

mtrast, some communities truly tackle the problem. They 

alogue with their troubled youth in youth aid panels and 

immunity groups. 

Quaker schools so value — I'm not a Quaker, 

d I'm not here to promote Quakerism per se. But I found 

is fascinating. — Quaker schools so value the person 

at they respond to the smallest abruption in the 

immunity of the school. 

I heard of one class that was called to 

fleet as a group to a child who had pulled the petals 

om another child's flowers. Why aren't we having a 
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aring today about relationships? I believe that what you 

e really after is the violation of relationship that 

mes from youthful violence. 

The need for recognition, the estrangement and 

olation that many young people feel today, the premature 

eling of independence we promote so well that young 

ople need to learn to make it on their own. This all 

unds too soft, too feminine, too much about values. We 

ggle. 

And indeed, the answer lies not in 

oscription but in engagement. This is the problem you 

ould take on with the conviction and candor with which 

u address the task. We're far too downhill on the 

ippery slope of violence in human conduct to arrest the 

ide of our culture with a video rating system. 

I fear we tell ourselves, as we often do in 

e legislative process, that we have done something 

aningful, something important for our children when we've 

ally done very little at all. I urge you to get honest 

th the epidemic of violence in our culture, in our 

mmunities, in our families. 

Is this a good start, as Dr. Ragusea suggests? 

don't think so. My friends and I often come to ask you 

r support for programs for kids. And so I ask a simple 

mbers questions. What will $3 million buy? At 30 bucks 
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hour per total cost of service, that's 100,000 hours. 

's not a small budget, indeed, for any kind of program 

anner. 

What kind of engagement, what kind of 

aracter development, to use Colonel Grossman's word, 

uld you get for your money? 100,000 hours of Head Start 

r young kids or for peer mediation for school conflicts; 

0,000 hours of quality day care where children can learn 

respect each other; 100,000 hours of crisis intervention 

treatment services or group work for youths who feel 

saffected; 100,000 hours of school social work now 

nexistent in many school districts; 100,000 hours of 

uth groups and outreach to those marginalized kids 

nging out in the video arcades. 

Perhaps this is discomforting, but our 

pocrisy runs deeper than videos. If you want to make a 

fference in the violence our children experience and 

rpetrate, get the guns out of the hands of our children. 

ss meaningful gun control legislation. 

Allow Philadelphia to govern the sale of 

ndguns in its boundaries. Let go of the fear that sport 

es of guns will lose their freedom. Reject the specious 

gument about our right to bear arms. It's the easy 

ailability of guns that is doing the most violence to our 

ds. 
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I note that the bill's criteria on sexual 

nduct is easier to accept and probably easier to label. 

t look at what is glorified on daytime television and ask 

urself, What do we really care about? What are we really 

ncerned about about our children's values? 

What makes our children do the things they do? 

ildren, like adults, act out of need. They're born to 

arn. Is there a connection between what they see and 

at they do? Sure there is. It's silly to think 

herwise. 

The research may be unclear on videos, but 

ere appears to be some correlation in the report and 

terature between how some children — between some 

ildren's exposure to violence and their own behavior and 

rid view. Perhaps we need more research. 

But if you really believe there's a 

nnection, then get honest about all the bad things we're 

aching and tolerating. Don't respond to the few 

agedies that are grasping for your attention and your 

art. Instead, understand how and why children act. 

Respond to those needs up front, not with 

nalties but with engagement. We've learned this before. 

r sexuality, the answer does not lie in hiding the 

ndoms or whispering about sex. For alcoholism in the 

mily, the answer is not to keep kids away from the truth 
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• from locking up the liquor cabinet. 

For teen smoking, we've had bans on the sale 

cigarettes to minors for two generations. I remember 

e labels as a little kid on the machines as I used to go 

y the cigarettes for my uncle. Yet as adults, we 

mtinue to drink and smoke and fight into our own 

livion. 

Parents can and should restrict their 

ildren's access to some forms of entertainment but mostly 

. the context of their relationship, not from a civil 

ghts perspective but because that's what works. 

The popular radio psychologist Dan Gottlieb 

is week had some suggestions for parents which you might 

mlate in legislation and funding support. Spend more 

me with your kids. Find out about their lives and values 

d don't just share yours. 

Be aware of what they watch on television, at 

e movies and videos and which of those they — which of 

ose are violent. If they seem violent, go watch it with 

em and talk about what it means. Teach them directly 

out how to handle their emotions, especially their anger. 

From infancy, be a role model for compassion. 

cial, ethnic, and sexist jokes are not funny. They are 

an. Teach children how to work with and for justice. 

en you see something that troubles you, whether it's 
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justice of poverty or the proliferation of guns, become 

tive. Show kids that it's good to be involved. It 

minishes the chances of their feeling alienated as they 

ow up. 

There will be more violence indeed, as 

presentative Daley suggests, on and among our children 

til we get honest about the real causes and about our 

sponse. In our work, we see children victimized by 

olence in their homes. But statewide it's still hard to 

nd an effective treatment, a skillful treatment program 

r parents and their children who are exposed to violence. 

We find that most folks are horrified by the 

ight of children, and yet most folks don't want to get 

o close because the reality brings upset and fatigue. We 

nd it hard to get others to take seriously the depth of 

olence in our own lives and the lives of others. 

I commend your threshold of sensitivity, from 

e bottom of my heart I do. Finally someone has seen what 

have seen so broadly and so pervasively for so long. 

d of course, children should not see this trash. But the 

deo games initiative may indeed be the wrong step that 

11 lead — that will allow violence to continue to grow. 

The test question for me is — it kind of 

rifies one's motive. — how do you feel about toy guns 

r little kids? If you can get at that, then we can get 
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the real violent stuff that you're concerned about. 

ank you for your interest in children. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you for your 

stimony, Attorney Cervone. And I'll turn the questioning 

er at this point to Representative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Attorney Cervone, in a larger sense, I 

,derstand your testimony and the issues that 

ilosophically you're trying to present to all of 

mnsylvania regarding children and our responsibility to 

ial with them in a more social redeeming way. 

And I understand that what your — you're the 

:ecutive Director for the Support Center for Child 

vocates, and you do a tremendous job. However, I think 

ther you are not addressing specifically House Bill 1509 

that you're trying to web a weave of philosophy around 

09 regarding your own philosophies. 

In any sense, I have a couple of questions for 

u. You say that rating violent — you say that rating 

deo games validates other forms of violence. And it's 

>rt of an inverse psychological profiling you're trying to 

here. Does that mean gun control validates knives and 

sts? 

MR. CERVONE: No, certainly not. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: I had the same response 
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en you asked us the question. Does regulation of child 

cess to alcohol, tobacco or pornography validate these 

bstances? 

MR. CERVONE: Our treatment of those 

bstances validates those substances. Our treatment — 

r broad scale treatment — I don't find this 

ilosophical at all. I don't think I was here to make a 

ilosophical argument at all. 

I'm talking about kids who smoke, about kids 

o use knives on each other, about kids I know. I don't 

ink that's philosophical at all, Representative. I think 

at — that regulations are important. And I think that 

me regulation of the — of these videos is important. 

d not only that, it's critical. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: But do regulating 

ildren's access to pornography and tobacco and alcohol 

lidate those substances? And actually, it does not, does 

? 

MR. CERVONE: Oh, I get it. Now I get it 

actly. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Okay. I think that's 

at your question is here. 

MR. CERVONE: No. No. If I may, see if I get 

We restrict a child's access to pornographic material. 

es that validate that material? No. What it does is 
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.lidates most behavior up to that line. When we create 

ight lines, we invite folks up to the line. 

And adolescents are best at running up to the 

,ne. It's what they do to learn how to be independent. 

ey jump across the line and jump back all the time in all 

irts of ways. I mean, precisely what I'm talking about 

e the forms of violence, the fighting, the — that would 

it fall under this bill, by any measure would not fall 

ider this bill but that most of us would find intolerant 

i our own family life. 

And yet we don't flag those. In fact, we — 

: snicker at them. Oh, that's just boys being boys. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: But I think your 

imment was — and maybe I'm not understanding what you 

ve written or said. — that by limiting children's access 

i certain violent acts, it in essence validates those acts 

ir those children as adults? 

MR. CERVONE: No, I didn't mean validates 

iose acts. I meant — I believe I said — and I'll try to 

: more clear. — validates similar acts short of the line. 

phrase was used earlier — I'll give an example. I 

lieve it was in the Colonel's very effective testimony 

at the machine that teaches a kid and a soldier how to 

oot. 

I think of all of the different devices that 
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ve seen and used that teach how to shoot, and I think of 

1 the targets in those shooting games that were human. 

w, are they more human because they're three-dimensional 

d bleeding? Certainly. 

But did we not teach — do we not teach 

unething about how to kill and how to shoot in video 

cades of a lesser sort and at carnivals since time in 

morial. And we have not named those forms of violence as 

oblematic. 

We — and this is where I think the trip wire 

your use of the word philosophy is. I wasn't here to 

Ik about gun control per se or to talk about the violence 

d the death penalty or a lot of other things that I 

ilieve about. 

That's not what I was here to talk about, and 

don't believe I did. I tried to address 1509 on point. 

iu would draw a bright line, and your belief is that that 

ight line will prevent some forms of conduct. I'm 

ggesting to you the obverse of that coin. 

It will invite some other forms and promote 

ightly lesser violent forms of conduct. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: My last question, Mr. 

iairman, do you support the child's right to practice 

lling human beings in a local arcade? 

MR. CERVONE: Not for a million dollars. 
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REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Mr. Cervone. 

: appreciate your coming here this afternoon and giving 

>ur testimony. Thank you for being here. 

MR. CERVONE: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Our next testifier is 

san Houghton. She's the Treasurer for the Pennsylvania 

ate Education Association. Ms. Houghton has a packet 

tat has been prepared for the Committee members, and 

icluded in that is her testimony. 

Ms. Houghton, welcome to our Committee 

eting. And when you're prepared to do so, you may give 

>ur testimony. 

MS. HOUGHTON: Thank you. Good afternoon. I 

i Susan Houghton, Treasurer of the Pennsylvania State 

lucation Association representing more than 143,000 

imbers. I would like to take this opportunity to thank 

ipresentative Birmelin and the other members of the 

bcommittee on Crimes and Corrections for allowing me to 

ieak today. 

PSEA is also affiliated with the National 

lucation Association representing more 2.2 million members 

.tionally. Our membership represents a cross section of a 

.11 range of school employees from across the state who 

11 potentially receive the benefits of this proposed 
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gislation when working with students who have not been 

bjected to countless hours of violent video games. 

As PSEA treasurer, I have covered the state in 

ores of meetings with members who share many of the 

ncerns of the legislators and parents on the topic of 

hool violence and how we can reach the root causes of 

is phenomenon. 

We at PSEA are aware that the establishment of 

uniform rating system for video games, one of the 

ovisions of this proposed legislation, is an idea that 

s gained increasing popularity across the nation. It is 

portant that efforts undertaken here are consistent with 

e efforts of other states and the federal government. 

The production and distribution of video games 

a massive industry. Any rating system enacted in 

nnsylvania will have potentially far reaching application 

d impact outside the state. Likewise, legislative and 

her collaborative efforts among law makers and the 

tertainment industry, particularly at the federal level, 

ed to be considered in Pennsylvania. 

How to deal with aspects of the possible 

pact of violent video games readily available to many 

uth of various ages is addressed in our PSEA's Change 

at Works. Four your convenience, I have included a copy 

the packet of materials that we have prepared for you. 
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In Change That Works, the section on Safe 

hools recognizes that schools and their communities 

ould equally share three broad responsibilities: Provide 

safe school environment; two, reexamine programs to be 

re that they support long-term family and educational 

eds for prevention rather than just intervention; and 

ree, demand and achieve a strong and consistent 

sciplinary expectation for every student. 

Additionally, PSEA's Task Force on Violent and 

sruptive Students, a statewide committee of public school 

achers, researched the issues relating to school 

olence. Again, for your convenience, I have included a 

py of the Task Force report in the packet that we have 

epared. 

The Task Force recommended early intervention 

means of a reporting system that assures disruptive 

havior is noted as soon as possible and is communicated 

guidance counselors, home and school visitors, parole 

ficers and the administration. 

These broad responsibilities and 

commendations serve to underscore the collaborative and 

evention efforts in the whole community that will be 

cessary to successfully counter any possibly negative 

fluences on the learning process such as students viewing 

olent video games. 
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In today's society, the schools and families 

11 have to work together closely to prevent violence, to 

nitor its existence and provide early interventions, and 

' reinforce a comprehensive approach of discipline that 

nks the home and the school. Legislative proposals such 

this, if enacted responsibly, can represent the whole 

mmunity's effort to provide a comprehensive safe school 

vironment. 

Recent discussion within our teacher ranks 

ncerning this proposed legislation raised many thorny 

gal issues that must be addressed. These include 

nsiderations such as conflicts with First Amendment 

ghts, rights to interstate commerce for regulating video 

me sales, selection of the appropriate mix of panel 

mbers, et cetera. 

Our consensus is that this issue needs to be 

dressed. Additional information needs to be obtained on 

is issue and processed thoroughly before a bill is 

eated. At this time, PSEA can support the broad 

gislative intent of House Bill 1509 to provide parents, 

th a reasonable tool to assist in guiding impressionable 

uth through the years of video game viewing. 

Providing a general rating system for video 

mes and monitoring their sale, rental and use can be a 

evention tool. Because many video games are viewed in 
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ities on TV monitors, the rating of video games may also 

vorably influence home TV viewing generally. 

PSEA's support is consistent with the position 

the NEA at the national level regarding the adoption of 

video rating system as a tool for teachers and parents. 

early as 1988, the National Coalition on Television 

olence reported on the potential negative impact of video 

mes on school-age children. 

Over the years, NCTV has generated information 

pporting their opinion that viewing violent video games 

id TV is linked to increased aggressive and violent 

havior in school-age youth. While scientific research on 

is topic is ongoing and not totally conclusive, a 

insensus seems to be developing that violent video games 

ke violence on TV does have an impact on the effect and 

ihavior of school-age children. 

How adverse or positive, how long the effect, 

id how the effect is formulated in the mind of an 

[dividual all remain a mystery. What is clear is that our 

:perience as a violence acted out in the schools and the 

.ghest levels of interest in violent video games rests 

th male students. 

Likewise, males spend more of their time 

aying arcade videos — video games. Support is growing 

»r the notion that there is a correlation between viewing 
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[gressive behavior and the aggressive behavior itself. 

tile we have primarily seen males acting in aggressive 

ivs, we cannot eliminate the possibility of females acting 

it in similar ways in the future. 

Although educational and psychological 

ssearch on the effects of viewing violent videos is not 

•nclusive or delineating the behavior of young people who 

ive watched many hours of violent videos, common sense 

tggests that surely there are parallels to TV or motion 

.cture viewing. 

Research in this area shows that extended 

.ewing of violent material results in a tolerance for acts 

: violence. For many youth, viewing violent video games 

.11 result in the same desensitization that occurs from 

Ltching violent TV or motion pictures. 

With the assistance of this proposed 

tgislation or other similar legislation, parents can work 

>llaboratively with teachers by preempting the viewing of 

.olent videos. We will need tools like this legislation 

>upled with strategies to limit and monitor video game 

slections according to the developmental level of the 

.ewer. 

Also, monitoring the game content may be as 

iportant as the parental monitoring of TV privileges. No 

Ltter how you view this issue, it will come down to a 
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llaborative effort from the whole community if we are to 

successful. 

The legislature can do its parts. I look 

rward to answering any questions that the members may 

ve. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you, Ms. 

ughton. Just out of curiosity, you're listed as the 

easurer for PSEA. And I was just wondering if you 

rhaps wear two hats or — you obviously do more than just 

the Treasurer. 

You've been asked to come here to present 

EA's position on this. Do you have any firsthand 

perience working on this issue? 

MS. HOUGHTON: Yes. I am currently on leave 

full-time leave of absence from the Central Dauphin 

hool District where I teach 5th or 6th grade, depending 

the year, at South Side Elementary School which is right 

tside of Harrisburg. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Just one other question 

r you. Your statement says that the PSEA broadly 

pports the concept, as is noted in one of your 

ragraphs. They also raise the issue of constitutional 

estions, et cetera. 

Is your organization doing anything 

ecifically on this particular legislation or the concept 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



122 
legislation? I obviously didn't read your Task Force on 

olent Disruptive Students so I can't — maybe you can 

iswer it from that. 

But does the PSEA take a position specifically 

. what legislation they think can or should be passed by 

lis General Assembly to help? 

MS. HOUGHTON: We have not officially taken a 

sition on this legislation nor are we doing any action on 

However, we do see the relationship between videos, 

levision and the movies and the effect they have on this 

havior, especially as an elementary teacher watching it 

the playground and a variety of other places, on busses 

d so on. 

So I am well aware of the effect. But as far 

us taking a position and really moving forward, not yet. 

guess what we want to see is a variety of things. But we 

ve no problem with the legislation as it is right now. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: And myself having been 

teacher, although on the high school level, some of that 

acted out there as well I might add. But it's not very 

fficult, and it doesn't take a lot of common sense to see 

,e connection between what the child has seen the night 

fore on TV and is acting out in the classroom and the 

ayground and whatever. 

And I think the observation of many of our 
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achers will be helpful in this process. And I want to 

ank you for your testimony today. There are no other 

mbers of the Committee that wish to ask you any questions 

we want to thank you very much for coming. 

MS. HOUGHTON: Okay. Thank you. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Mr. Chairman, just 

ickly. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I take that back. 

ere is one other member that has a question for you. 

presentative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: More of a comment. I 

nt to thank you for your attendance today. And we look 

rward to your participation in the formulation of this 

sue as it progresses through the Judiciary Committee and 

e floor of the House. 

We know that this bill is not in its final 

rm, of course. This is, I think, a good first step. And 

a former middle school teacher, I too saw those types of 

mes — even though they were not as pervasive when I was 

aching school as they are today. — being acted out on 

e playground and in the halls and in the classroom. So I 

nt to thank you for your testimony. 

MS. HOUGHTON: Thank you. We also have an 

ban education initiative which we are beginning to work 

th and which we are bringing together representatives 
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om the urban school districts within the state, not as 

fined by the census bureau as urban but what we as 

achers see as urban areas. So you will be hearing more 

om that group also. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Thank you very much. 

r next and last testifiers will be testifying as a 

uple, as a team. Dr. Veronique Valliere and Reese W. 

ssig. 

(Discussion off the record.) 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Well, I'm not sure 

ich of you — which is to go first. 

MR. LESSIG: I will, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I guess, Mr. Lessig, 

at's you then. And I think the microphone to your right 

s been working well, and the one to your left hasn't 

en. So maybe you'd like to push the one on your left 

ay from you and then share the one on your right with Dr. 

lliere after you are finished. 

MR. LESSIG: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: And you need to speak 

rectly into that microphone, by the way. You may begin. 

MR. LESSIG: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members 

the Subcommittee. My name is Reese Lessig, and I'm a 

cial worker. I work with violent children, physically 

olent, sexually violent children and adults in Monroe 

TROUTMAN REPORTING SERVICE 
(570) 622-6850 

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle

mallen
Rectangle



125 
unty, Pennsylvania. I also do some training here and 

ere. 

I have a few comments about the legislation, 

t I first want to establish a context from which I'm 

eaking. In looking at the manner in which people have 

sponded to the recent school shootings, I have heard two 

rds repeated over and over. These words are that it was 

believable and unthinkable. 

And if I could do anything today, I just want 

move the "un" from these words. I would like to make 

olent crime wherever it occurs both believable and 

inkable for the members of the Subcommittee and the 

blic. 

The reason for this is that until you're able 

understand what motivates individuals to be violent, we 

11 not be able to deter them. We tend to 

mpartmentalize the violence in our culture. We have 

hool violence, workplace violence, domestic violence, 

te crimes, ad infinitum. 

We do this, I believe, because that insulates 

from the accountability of acknowledging that we are a 

olent culture. We don't want to think the way violent 

ople think. They are the other people. This is exactly 

at perpetuates violence and aggression. 

Our failure to understand the thoughts and 
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itivations of violent individuals allows them to continue 

i fantasize and eventually put into action the violent 

ime we say we abhor. 

The massacre at the school in Colorado has 

ustrated me personally and professionally more than any 

her incident in my recent memory. When I first heard 

at occurred, I already knew what was going to happen over 

e next two weeks. First everyone would say there was no 

rning and no indication. Then over time, bits and pieces 

information would be brought to light. And in the end, 

.ose pieces would form a puzzle of violence which was in 

ace long before shots were ever fired. 

If I asked for a show of hands, I doubt there 

e many people in this room who think there will be 

other school shooting by the end of the school year. 

wever, I do believe that. In a country this size, it is 

reasonable to think that there are not at least a few 

>re children who are predisposed to this type of violence. 

ey * re already thinking about it. 

A few of them will have the means to complete 

successful attack. When you take a moment and put 

urself in their minds, you can begin to realize in the 

xt months, school will be over. These are not the kind 

people who would be content to wait until autumn. It is 

tually more likely that they will act than they will not 
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t. 

In recent news reports, there's been a focus 

. those children who have made threats. While threats 

st always be taken seriously, the children who have 

rderous intent will not make threats. They will act. 

In my practice, I deal with violent children 

d adults, and I sit and talk with them usually for an 

>ur a week. Violent people have taught me to think 

fferently about violence. What I've learned is as 

actical as it is distasteful. 

People engage in violence because it meets 

eir needs. I have asked the kids that I work with what 

ey would do if they wanted to commit an act of school 

olence with the stipulation that there are now metal 

itectors in the school. 

The responses I have received included getting 

astic explosives, bringing gasoline in their thermoses, 

• getting other toxic substances from the chemistry 

iboratory. The most telling comment I heard was from a 

•y who said he would just kill people in the parking lot. 

All the adolescents I have spoken with knew 

>w to make napalm. As we increase the security in 

herwise safe places, we increase the creativity of those 

10 will be violent. 

Does the media contribute to a desensitization 
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ward violence? Absolutely. However, as I see it, the 

dia does not create violence. Rather, it reflects our 

lture; it reflects what sells; it reflects what we want 

i see. 

We will rant and rave about shows like South 

xk, Jerry Springer and Celebrity Deathmatch; but they 

iuld not be on the air if they were not watched by the 

lerican public. Violent media presentations gain huge 

tings. We watch it, and we pay for it. 

Violent video games are no exception. They 

e reflective of the culture of violence in which we live. 

ny children will play these games and not commit a 

olent crime. A few will use them to feed their homicidal 

eds and practice their killing. When these are not 

ailable, they will resort to other means. 

Did you know that the number one reading 

terial of serial killers is the detective magazine found 

any newsstand? We would not think of — that banning 

is material would eradicate serial killing because we 

ow serial killers have tremendous pride to commit their 

imes. 

Violent children have similar needs to be 

olent. Should our children be exposed to graphic 

rtrayals of violence in which we can electronically 

rticipate? No. We do not allow our children exposure to 
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xually graphic comments. Why do we think twice about 

lowing exposure to graphic murders? 

The sad thing is that this will not end youth 

olence because we still are unwilling to understand the 

nner in which violent children think. The children who 

e obsessed with violence are disenfranchised and 

olated. 

They do not believe that others will take the 

me to understand them. They don't feel they belong. And 

ter time, they turn this into a life-style. They nurture 

eir anger, fantasize about their worthlessness, and blame 

hers for their miserable state. 

As they devalue themselves, they devalue 

hers. They are drawn further and further into 

emselves. For them, taking a life is of no more value 

an doing homework. And in fact, they invest much more 

me, thought and effort in violent fantasies than in 

tivities which would cause them to value their lives and 

ve them a sense of accomplishment. 

No one understands them. No one takes the 

me to do so. This is not to say that others are at 

ult. Only the violent child can be responsible for his 

her aggression. However, as long as we continue to 

nore these children, they will continue to act violently. 

Solving the problem of school and youth 
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olence involves two processes: Identification and 

tervention. Identifying those children at risk is 

latively easy. Walk into any school and ask school 

rsonnel whom they are worried about. 

You will then have a reference list. Of those 

ildren, some will be at more risk than others. There are 

thods available to discern this. Prioritize the list, 

d you are ready to intervene. Intervention involves 

tually speaking with and understanding violent children. 

Explaining this is lengthy and takes more time 

an I have. Basically, learn the things that motivate 

olent children, learn what they need, anticipate the 

thod of violence they will use. Most children who are 

tentially violent will tell you what they are thinking if 

ey are not condemned for doing so. 

When you learn their needs, you develop a 

thod of intervention which understands the violent child 

d provides alternatives for violent behavior. As long as 

glorify violence with our fear and our ignorance, we 

11 continue to produce violent children. Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Dr. Valliere. 

DR. VALLIERE: Hi. I'm Veronique Valliere. 

m a clinical psychologist, and I direct two outpatient 

inics that deal with violent offenders. Mr. Lessig and I 

so train agencies like Parole and Probation on 
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entification and risk reduction in violent incidence with 

olent offenders. 

And if I guess, that's probably why we were 

ked here because we're incomparable to nobody — to who 

se you've listened to. But I do thank you for any 

forts to intervene in violent acts with children. 

I want to say that the term school violence 

iplies that school violence is some particular type of — 

species of violence. But we really — what we're seeing 

the same kind of violence that children experience just 

the school yard. We have all kinds of promotions of 

olence and all forms of denying, minimizing and 

orifying violence. 

Part of my daily battle is battling the denial 

those around violent offenders that keep me and parole 

ficers from keeping them from acting out. Video games 

e obviously and dramatically violent. Much of the 

stimony definitely illustrates that. 

Video games also provide particular issues in 

e socialization of violence in children. Specifically, 

deo games are typically used in isolation. And they 

n't promote any kind of prosocial activities like 

mmunication, cooperation, negotiation, conflict 

solution skills like more interactive or less socially 

olated games do, 
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They also link physiological arousal and 

olence. All of our physiological arousal is the same 

th every strong emotion. It's only how we mentally or 

gnitively label that arousal that tells us what is — 

at is fear, what is love, what is lust, what is thrill. 

Like if we fall, we're afraid because we know 

at that arousal is based on a danger. But if we ride a 

Her coaster, we're thrilled because we know that we're 

fe on some level even though we experience the 

ysiological arousal. 

Violent video games link with children the 

gnitive labeling of thrill with the killing because video 

mes obviously by their nature produce arousal and stress. 

at's what makes them fun. So that's a very important 

sue in the media's impact on violence in children. 

Also, violent video games organize children's 

inking around strategizing and planning and learning 

tter how to kill. Problem solving skills are definitely 

w — what we want to teach, but we don't want to teach 

em where better to plant bombs and things like that. 

But the children — video games are so 

vious, they're an excellent target and definitely need to 

controlled. But we also need other measures. Children 

t sexualized violence through wrestling which basically 

oduces living cartoons. 
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I've treated more children for injuring their 

others doing pile drivers than I have with violent video 

mes. Children can't cognitively grasp this. But 

ildren also see that violence works. 

I was talking with a young boy, ten years old, 

sterday who told me how he lured the neighbor out down 

e street and hit him with a baseball bat to avenge the 

ighbor shooting a BB gun at him. This is a boy I'm 

eating because his dad nearly killed his mom and is now 

olating PFAs over and over and over again to have access 

the child. This child learns that violent force, and 

at's what he's using even though he's been exposed to 

emendous destruction of it. 

I want — the message I want — I support the 

11, but I want you to hear that it's only a first step of 

ny steps we need to take to protect children. And in 

uth, part of, I think, some of our — as treating people, 

r reaction is the $3 million going towards rating video 

mes while I can't get $20,000 extra to treat substance 

users, or we can't get legal representation for children 

get PFAs protected. 

That's part of this bill that's very hard to 

allow while treatment monies are getting cut. And so I 

nt this bill to be a tool but not the only tool that you 

e in terms of regulating the violence our children are 
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posed to. 

Regardless of how sudden and explosive this 

olence seems, we can teach people how to identify. And 

me of our money should go into training parents and 

achers and care takers how to identify children at risk 

d how to understand the risk factors associated with the 

mmission of violent acts like substance abuse, juvenile 

stories of crime and exposure to prevent the violence. 

So please let this — if you're going to make 

is a first step, don't let it be an only step. And don't 

ovide yourself the illusion that rating video games is 

ing to cure the violence but can be one tool in using it 

d helping decrease it. Thanks. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I want to thank you 

th for your testimony. And we have some questions from 

r panel here. And first I'm going to give the 

portunity to one of our staff attorneys, Karen Dalton. 

MS. DALTON: Thanks both for coming. I have a 

uple of questions. The first two actually I'm going to 

dress to Mr. Lessig, and then I'm going to ask you both a 

estion. Mr. Lessig, you had said that kids are violent 

cause it meets their needs. Can you tell us what needs 

ose are? 

MR. LESSIG: There are many needs. Primarily, 

e need to be somebody. When you look at all of the 
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ildren who commit very violent acts, it's all because 

ey're lacking in so many other areas. They identify with 

e violence. It gives them power. It gives them control. 

It gives them all the things they're lacking 

erywhere else. In general, that's the need. There are 

ny other factors that contribute to violence. But 

sically, it allows them to be somebody. 

MS. DALTON: Okay. And can you give us an 

ample of the type of intervention that would stop 

olence before it begins? 

MR. LESSIG: Yeah, I can. Unfortunately, it 

quires a lot of mental flexibility. We need to learn to 

ink the way violent children think. There are children 

every school district who are already thinking about how 

kill, how to maim, how to torture, how to set fires. 

I sit down and talk with them. They tell me 

is. If they think they're going to be condemned for 

Iking about it, they will isolate, which is what they do. 

t if you can identify them and sit down and have an 

nest talk with them about what kinds of needs that 

lfills, what it's like to think that way. 

When the next school shooting happens — and I 

rmly believe when. — the same reaction will occur. This 

unbelievable. This is unthinkable. And then it will 

1 get put into place. All the many, many warning signs 
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d risk factors will be laid out before us. 

And then we'll say, Why didn't we see this? 

d basically, it's because it's uncomfortable for us to 

ok. 

MS. DALTON: And when you talk with these kids 

my understanding of psychology is so much more limited 

an your folks' is. But my understanding is that 

ychologists sort of look at behavior and then values and 

entity. And I think I actually learned that from both of 

u at a seminar I attended. 

When you talk about the violence that these 

ds exhibit and that they talk about, if you can put them 

to one of those three categories, can you place it 

ere? When you actually talk with them, are we talking 

out their identity; or are we talking about their values 

ich we could actually change by that kind of 

tervention? 

MR. LESSIG: Depends on the child and how 

eply invested they are. I would say identity is, you 

ow, that's a very deeply invested child. That would be 

ch more difficult to change than simple behaviors more 

an values. It would sort of be a continuum. 

As you see more of a child's identity absorbed 

violence, in violent behavior and violent thinking, the 

re difficult the intervention is going to be. 
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DR. VALLIERE: Also, children are able to 

calize the values that are promoted. For instance, this 

ung boy I was talking about can tell me that it's wrong 

at his dad beats his mom. He can tell me that violence 

wrong. But when it comes to him and benefiting from 

at same behavior, he doesn't put those two together. 

And that's a difficult thing, and especially 

th kids that are very egocentric in their cognitive 

velopment. So they do what works for them. And exposure 

violence gives them one of those options. So it's very 

rd to sort out for the child what values they know and 

ey can verbalize versus what they adopt and internalize. 

MS. DALTON: Okay. I just have one last 

estion, and this is for both of you. Have you had any 

ients who have attributed their violent behavior to video 

mes? 

MR. LESSIG: No, I haven't. 

DR. VALLIERE: I haven't either. I have had 

ople say just like I've had violent sexual offenders say 

ey've used pornography for stimulus to feed the 

eexisting fantasies. I've seen, for example, a small 

xually abused boy who seemed to gravitate after he was 

used towards violent video games when his expressions of 

ger were shut off by his parents. 

But again, that shows to me that he was 
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pressing a preexisting need or gaining stimulation for 

at need rather than the video game causing that need. 

MS. DALTON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: Representative Daley. 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Thank you, Mr. 

airman. Mr. Lessig, in the United States, aggravated 

sault has gone up almost seven fold since 1957. And 

lonel Grossman outlined the fact of similar increases in 

her countries throughout the world. 

The AMA and the APA say the media violence is 

e of those causes for violent crime, but you seem to 

sagree with the APA and the AMA's conclusion of the 

usal relationship here. Do I understand your position 

rrectly, or am I misreading your evaluation of the 

tuation? 

MR. LESSIG: I think that rather than causal, 

see the relationship as correlational. There certainly 

an association. Whether that association creates in an 

dividual those needs or whether those individuals 

avitate toward that type of material I think is what's 

ill open to question. Does that answer your question? 

REPRESENTATIVE DALEY: Yeah, I think it 

sically does. And for both of you, we realize this 

gislation is a first step and it's not the only solution. 

ere's a much broader question here as to what really is 
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e root problem to the violent acts by children today. 

And we realize and I know I realize that it's 

t the only step that we need. Some things are 

gislatively, and some things that can be legislative 

cietally in terms of what we as parents are doing with 

r kids. And I want to thank you for your testimony 

day. 

MR. LESSIG: Thank you. 

CHAIRPERSON BIRMELIN: I want to thank you as 

11. And just as a general statement for those who are 

ill here and for our viewers, public hearings like this 

e not intended necessarily to line up support for or 

ainst legislation but to take legislation that becomes a 

arting-off point for discussion. 

And as those of you who were here today 

derstand, we had people that are for it and some are 

ainst it and some are kind of for it and some are kind of 

ainst it. And I think we all recognize that there is a 

neral consensus that violence is a problem in society. 

d whether or not this legislation in its current form is 

part of addressing that remains to be seen. 

But I think if nothing else, we have the 

portunity to give a forum to the ideas that have been 

pressed by you folks and by those who preceded you at 

at table. And that gives our Committee some food for 
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ought as well as for those who I'm sure are watching 

rough the cable network. 

So we thank you all who were here today. And 

of now, this meeting is adjourned. 

(Whereupon, at 4:00 p.m., the hearing 
adjourned.) 

* * * * 
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iken by me during the hearing of the within cause and that 
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